
 Tillamook County Transportation District 
Board of Directors 

Regular Monthly Meeting 

Wednesday, July 19th, 2023 at 6:00PM 
Transportation Building 

3600 Third Street, Tillamook, Oregon 



Coordinating Committee Hybrid Meeting 
July 14, 2023; 10:00 am—12:00 pm 

IN-PERSON 
Tillamook County Transit District 

3600 3rd Street, Tillamook OR 

Join Zoom Meeting: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87552290259 

Call In: 1 253 215 8782 
Meeting ID: 875 5229 0259 

Agenda 

10:00—
10:05a 1. Introductions Cynda Bruce 

10:05—
10:20a 

2. Consent Calendar (Action Item)
June Meeting Minutes (Attached) 
Financial Report  
Ridership Tracking 

Cynda Bruce/All 

10:20—
10:30a 

3. NWOTA Standing Items
Marketing Update – Pending contract 

Sarah Lu Heath 

10:30 – 
10:40a 4. Elect Vice President Cynda Bruce/All 

10:40- 
11:05a 5. Bus Stop Project Update Brian Vitulli 

11:05- 
11:30a 

6. Hydrogen Project
a. Zero Emissions Bus Conference
b. Feasibility Study Scope of Work

Brian Vitulli/ 
Sarah Lu Heath 

11:30-
11:45p 7. Other Business All 

11:45a – 
12:00p 8. Member Updates All 

Attachments: 

June Meeting Minutes  
Ridership/Passenger Mile Tracking 

NWOTA meetings are open to the public and accommodations will be provided to persons with 
disabilities.  If a sign language interpreter is needed, please call Sarah Lu Heath at 971.328.2877 at 
least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 

1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87552290259


NWOTA Mee�ng Minutes 
June 9, 2023 

Virtual mee�ng called to order at 10:05 

In atendance: Cynda Bruce, Brad Dillingham, Jennifer Geisler, Sarah Lu Heath, Paul Lewicki, Arla Miller, 
Brian Vitulli 

Consent Calendar:   Minutes reviewed with ‘transit development plan’ being updated in the May 
minutes. Consent calendar approval mo�oned by Brian Vitulli and seconded by Paul Lewicki; approved 
unanimously.  

Marke�ng Update:   The contract is being reviewed by legal. 

Elect Vice President: Brad Dillingham nominated John Dreeszen for the Vice President posi�on, the 
mo�on was seconded by Cynda Bruce. Paul Lewicki commented that John’s knowledge and willingness 
to help SETD have been invaluable and he is grateful to John for his generosity. It was noted that John 
was not in atendance and a final vote should proceed in July.  

SETD Updates:  The Pacific Connector routes, running from Emerald Heights to Cannon Beach is running 
as is paratransit service. The transit office is and will stay open. The Seaside Transit is and will stay closed. 
About 30 employees were let go. The district is s�ll awai�ng results of an audit.  

It was also noted that funds ini�ally awarded to add an Astoria to PDX route would not be received by 
SETD.  

Bus Stop Project: Without SETD transit stops, Pacific City, Hebo, and Waldport remain. To get the project 
moving, Brian Vitulli will get up to speed on the RFP scope and process.  

Hydrogen Feasibility Study:  5304 Planning funds will be publish applica�on in Fall of 2023. 5339 Bus 
Facility Funding can train low emissions fuel use and more info will be published in Fall of 2023. If the 
group completes a feasibility study that shows relevant outcomes, a transi�on plan would be the next 
step.  

Other Business: None. 

Member Updates:  
SETD: Paul re-iterated that he is employed in a strictly interim posi�on. 

BAT: Brad and team are on-boarding new so�ware. BAT is also looking at acquiring new vehicles. The 
Coast to Valley Route is going quite well.  

TCTD: Working on maximizing routes 60x and 70x. 

LCT: Cynda remarked that things are going well but staff capacity is fully u�lized. To remain sustainable 
some expansion is in order.  

ODOT: Arla announced that LCT, the Siletz Tribes, Corvallis, Albany, and Linn County will all be under her 
purview.  

2



The group agreed to meet in person at TCTD in July. 
Mee�ng adjourned at 11:11am.  

3



DATE: July 19, 2023 

TO: TCTD Board of Directors 

FROM:  Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

SUBJECT: GENERAL MANAGER REPORT 

Administration/Coordination 

• Checking into status of membership with the Community Transportation Association of
America (CTAA).

• Internal meetings to review policies and procedures.
• Attended the PC | Woods Parking Advisory Committee meeting on June 26.
• Hosted July 14 NWOTA meeting.
• Updated the Board of Directors Manual and prepared materials for new Board members.
• Coordinating with counsel regarding CBA negotiations.
• Route 70X is currently suspended due to lack of available drivers. Continuing to coordinate

with the Public Works Director/Tribal Transportation Program Manager of the Confederated
Tribes of Grand Ronde on formally discontinuing the service, but not before engaging
customers of the service for feedback.

• Attended SDAO Member Benefit Overview on Grant Opportunities on July 6.
• Met with new ATU, Local 757 Vice President-Assistant Business Representative on July 13.
• Attended NWACT meeting on July 13.

Planning & Development 

• Continuing to monitor Sunset Empire Transportation District’s resumption of service and
distributing that information to our customers and employees. SETD’s Route 101 service from
Astoria to Cannon Beach resumed on Monday, May 15, where connections can be made to
TCTD’s Route 3 service to Cannon Beach.

Grant Funding 

• Contacted the Tillamook Coast Visitors Association regarding eligibility requirements for their
tourism signage grant.

• ODOT Transportation and Growth Management Program grant applications are due July 27,
2023. Will likely pursue funds through this program to update to the District’s Transit

4



Development Plan (TDP). Our current TDP was adopted by the Board of Directors in August 
2016 and the effort to begin the update has been identified in the FY 2023-2024 Annual 
Budget. The TGM program is a joint effort of two state agencies: the Oregon Department of 
Transportation and the Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development. TGM 
grants are awarded on an annual basis and provide planning resources to help Oregon 
jurisdictions address transportation, land use, and growth management issues in their 
communities. 

• Applied for the final round of ODOT COVID Recovery Fund Discretionary Grant funding on
June 15, 2023.

Facility/Property Management 
• Working with District counsel to review bond submittal information, check contractor

references, and prepare the AIA contract. (Action Item) Tentative project schedule:
o TCTD Board consideration on July 19
o Construction potentially starts mid- to late-August
o Substantial completion December 2023/January 2024

5



Tillamook County Transportation District 
Board of Directors Regular Monthly Meeting 
Thursday, June 15, 2023 – 6:00PM  
Transportation Building 
3600 Third Street, Tillamook, OR  
Meeting Minutes 

1. Call to Order: Board Chair Mary Johnson called the meeting to order at 6:12 pm.

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Roll Call:
Present 
TCTD Board of Directors  
Mary Johnson, Board Chair (Zoom) 
Gary Hanenkrat, Treasurer  
Linda Adler, Secretary ABSENT 
Marty Holm, Director  
Jackie Edwards, Director  

TCTD Staff 
Brian Vitulli, General Manager 
Mike Reed, Operations Superintendent  
Cathy Bond, Finance Supervisor  
Natalie Zuercher, Admin Assistant/Board Clerk 
Jules Hooter, Brokerage Manager 

Guest  
Jim Heffernan, Citizen  
Marni Johnston, Citizen (Zoom) 
Jonathan Bean, Citizen  
Kathy Kleczek, Citizen (Zoom) 
Arla Miller, ODOT (Zoom) 

4. Announcements and Changes to Agenda: GM Vitulli announced the following
changes to the agenda:

Item #30 will not be addressed tonight.

5. Public & Guest Comments: None

6. Executive Session:  None

7. Budget Hearing

GM Vitulli announced that the Budget Committee has approved the budget with
three changes: Decrease payroll by 5% and move to contingency, add $12,000 to

6



Sunset Empire Transit District for partner match, and correct CARE STIF totals 
based upon information from ODOT. 

STATE OF THE DISTRICT REPORT 

8. Financial Report: FS Bond gave the following up-to-date financial report:

92% through the fiscal year with payroll under budget. Expenses are lower.

Have new biennium grants coming with grant extensions. Capital grants are delayed.
A recap of the status of grants will be presented in August.

NW Rides is 92% throughout the year. Under budget on expenses.

NWOTA has only received 5% of the resources that are budgeted because of the
delay on Bus Stop Project reimbursements.

Will be opening a NWOTA bank account. Waiting for new Board Members because
updated signature cards will need to be done.

LGIP STIF Reserve Account is open and ready for funding. This will be reported
separately in the future.

9. Service Measure Performance Report: OS Reed gave the following updates:

Shared the Service Measure Performance Report via slideshow which are located in
the June Board Packet.

Proud of the numbers that we are seeing. Our drivers are stretched thin trying to
maintain the service plan that we have currently. We are trying to find ways to continue
to fulfill this.

10. Northwest Oregon Transit Alliance: GM Vitulli gave the following update:

John Dreeszen was elected Vice President.

SETD (Sunset Empire Transit District) is still providing the same reduced level of
service and likely will not be adding back service for some time. Had to lay off 30
employees and close the Seaside Transit Office.

Dir. Holm added that Governor Kotek visited SETD.

Moving forward with three stops (PC, Hebo, and Waldport) with the Bus Stop Access
Project.

Still a lot of interest in Hydrogen Feasibility Study, trying to find the funds for this.

11. NW Rides Brokerage: BM Hooter gave the following updates:

7



Ridership is growing. We are going to add a new provider to help with wheelchair and 
ambulatory services.  

Dir. Holm asked if this is in Clatsop County. BM Hooter replied that this is Eugene, we 
want to expand in Clatsop County but aren’t there yet.  

12. General Manager Report: GM Vitulli provided the following updates:

a. Administration/Coordination:

Natalie has been updating the Board Manual. Hope to have SDAO training
opportunities identified in the future.

Working on CBA negotiations, find a date for both parties to meet.

Meetings with CTGR (Confederate Tribes of Grand Ronde) on updating MOU
for 60X and Siletz Tribe 70X services.

b. Planning Development:

PC Shuttle is going well.

c. Grant Funding:

Seeking funding for Transit Development Plan.

Grant application for COVID recovery funding.

d. Facility/Property Development:

Extended and amended agreement with TFCC (Tillamook Family Counseling
Center) including an 18-month extension. Got exclusive use of the Conference
Center to provide extra room for NW Rides Brokerage Staff.

Dir. Holm asked if we needed that full space. GM Vitulli replied we can use it
with the NW Rides staff we have now but can use the space as new positions
are added.

Dir. Hanenkrat asked how many workstations we need. FS Bond replied that
CCO has set aside money to expand the program with three positions, there is
a great need. They are willing to pay rent.

GM Vitulli added that this lease stays the same but with amended items in the
new document.

Dir. Holm asked if we are using the Conference Room as temporary space. GM
Vitulli replied yes.

8



 
GM Vitulli said we found a low bidder on the Transit Center Renovation project. 
Contract will come to you next month for authorization.  

 
13. Miscellaneous: None. 

 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
14. Motion to Approve the Minutes of May 18th, 2023 Regular Board Meeting  
15. Motion to Approve the Minutes of May 3rd, 2023 Special Board Meeting  
16. Motion to Approve the Minutes of May 10th, 2023 Special Board Meeting and 

Executive Session 
17. Motion to Approve the Minutes of May 11th, 2023 Budget Committee Meeting  
18. Motion to Approve May Financial Statement  
 
Motion by Dir. Holm to approve Consent Calendar. Motion Seconded by Dir. Edwards. 

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),  
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

ACTION ITEMS 
19. #23-11 In the Matter of Adopting the Budget, Making Appropriations, Levying Taxes, 

and Categorizing Taxes for FY 2023-2024 
 

Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-11 In the Matter of Adopting the Budget, 
Making Appropriations, Levying Taxes, and Categorizing Taxes for FY 2023-2024 
Motion seconded by Dir. Hanenkrat. 

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),  
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

 
20. #23-12 Authorizing the General Manager to Extend an MOU with the Confederate 

Tribes of Grand Ronde Indians for Intercity Bus Service (60X) 
 
GM Vitulli explained that these 60X/70X MOU’s are separate but related. Met with 
Public Works Director of Grand Ronde Tribe. Looking to extend 60X MOU. 
Partnership is working great with great service. Page 74, Item 8, the total should be 
changed to $1,305,474 we made an error in calculation.  

 
Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-12 Authorizing the General Manager to Extend 

an MOU with the Confederate Tribes of Grand Ronde Indians for Intercity Bus Service 
(60X). Motion seconded by Dir. Edwards. 

 
 

Motion Passed 
By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),  

9



Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 
 

21. #23-13 Authorizing the General Manager to Extend an MOU with the Confederate 
Tribes of Siletz Indians for Intercity Bus Service (60X)  
 
GM Vitulli said this is with the Confederated Tribes of Siletz Indians. Bottom of 
resolution it lists one amount but should be changed to $334,934. Page 86, amount 
should be $1,305,474. Page 93, value should be $334,934. Made those changes and 
will make sure correct versions are submitted.  
 
Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-13 Authorizing the General Manager to Extend 

an MOU with the Confederate Tribes of Siletz Indians for Intercity Bus Service (60X). 
Motion seconded by Dir. Edwards. 

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),  
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

 
22. #23-14 Authorizing the General Manager to Extend a PTA with the Confederate Tribes 

of Grand Ronde Indians for Intercity Bus Service (70X) 
 
GM Vitulli discussed that 70X is more service than 60X with lower ridership. It’s hard 
to staff and more costly. Morning routes have been suspended due to staffing, but we 
have come up with some solutions. After public outreach we are looking to discontinue 
70X and use resources to allocate to 60X (Rickreall Park and Ride and Edgewater). 
Add service to benefit 70X riders.  
 
Dir. Holm asked if this is subsidized by tribes. GM Vitulli replied yes.  
 
Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-14 Authorizing the General Manager to Extend 

a PTA with the Confederate Tribes of Grand Ronde Indians for Intercity Bus Service 
(70X). Motion seconded by Dir. Hanenkrat. 

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),  
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

 
23. #23-15 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5311 Grant 

Agreement No. 35435 
 
GM Vitulli explained how this grant is a part of 2023-25 biennium. For continued 
operations and preventative maintenance.  
 
Dir. Holm asked if that makes any changes to the current service. GM Vitulli replied 
no, this is a continuation.  
 

10



Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-15 Authorizing the General Manager to 
Execute ODOT Section 5311 Grant Agreement No. 35435. Motion seconded by Dir. 
Edwards. 

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),  
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

 
24. #23-16 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5311 Grant 

Agreement No. 35436 
 

GM Vitulli explained how this grant is for Capital Purchase of two transit vehicles.  
 
Dir. Holm asked if we already have these in the works. GM Vitulli responded that we 
have some grant agreements that are being extended to allow for the delays in 
purchasing vehicles. The new grant deadline is 2027.  
 
FS Bond said the grant agreement number is incorrect on the third “whereas” on the 
resolution.  
 

Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-16 Authorizing the General Manager to 
Execute ODOT Section 5311 Grant Agreement No. 35436 with changes to third 
whereas on resolution. Motion seconded by Dir. Edwards.  

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),  
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

 
25. #23-17 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5310 Grant 

Agreement No. 35488 
 

GM Vitulli explained that this grant is going towards Preventative Maintenance in 
5310. This is allocated for the public but also for seniors and individuals with 
disabilities.  
 

Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-17 Authorizing the General Manager to 
Execute ODOT Section 5310 Grant Agreement No. 35488. Motion seconded by Dir. 
Hanenkrat. 

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),  
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

 
26. #23-18 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute Amendment Number 5 to 

ODOT Section 5311(f) Grant Agreement No. 35116 
 

GM Vitulli said that this grant goes towards an extension because of Capital 
Purchase of a vehicle. Has been difficult to get in a timely matter.  

11



 
Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-18 Authorizing the General Manager to 

Execute Amendment Number 5 to ODOT Section 5311(f) Grant Agreement No. 35116. 
Motion seconded by Dir. Edwards.  

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),  
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

 
27. #23-19 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute Amendment Number 5 to 

ODOT Section 5311(f) Grant Agreement No. 35117 
 

GM Vitulli expressed that this amendment is to extend the grant deadline to 
accommodate delays.  
 

Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-19 Authorizing the General Manager to 
Execute Amendment Number 5 to ODOT Section 5311(f) Grant Agreement No. 
35117.Motion seconded by Dir. Edwards.  

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),  
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

 
28. #23-20 In the Matter of Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Personal 

Services Agreement with Chrissy’s Cleaning Service 
 

GM Vitulli discussed that we are asking for a new PSA with Chrissy’s Cleaning 
Service. 
 

Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-20 In the Matter of Authorizing the General 
Manager to Execute a Personal Services Agreement with Chrissy’s Cleaning 
Service with revision of July 1, 2023-July 1, 2024. Motion seconded by Dir. Edwards. 

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),  
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

 
29. #23-21 Authorizing the General Manager to Submit an ODOT COVID Recovery 

Discretionary Grant Application 
 

GM Vitulli said that this will be the last grant opportunity for COVID relief funds. 
Hope to attract more staff with this. It’s a valuable grant application to go for.  
 

Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-21 Authorizing the General Manager to 
Submit an ODOT COVID Recovery Discretionary Grant Application. Motion 
seconded by Dir. Edwards.  

 
Motion Passed 

12



By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),  
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

 
DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
30. Staff Comments/Concerns: 

 
General Manager Vitulli: Thank you Dir. Holm and Dir. Edwards for your valuable 
service to the District, you will be hard to replace.  
 
Operations Superintendent Reed: Recognized FS Bond for work on the budget. This 
week is a big milestone for the District. Proud to be a part of this organization. Thanked 
Dir. Holm and Dir. Edwards.  

 
Financial Supervisor Bond: This week marks one year of losing Doug. Never have 
seen the board work so cohesively together. So glad to have met Dir. Holm and Dir. 
Edwards, you will be missed. Thanked BC Johnson for her support. Thanked Arla 
Miller.  

 
Brokerage Manager Hooter: Want to thank Board and Staff for NW Rides support. We 
are growing but wouldn’t be that way without every person here.  
 
Administrative Assistant Zuercher: Thanked Dir. Holm and Dir. Edwards for their 
service on the Board.  

 
31. Board of Directors Comments/Concerns:  

 
Dir. Holm: It’s amazing what transformations have happened here at TCTD. We didn’t 
have 7-day a week service when I started. We are important in this community, North 
to South. It isn’t noticed by a lot of people; they don’t know how important this District 
is. Staff members that guide this, I hope you know how we all appreciate it. Very happy 
to have been a part of this organization. Believe in self-imposed term limits, this is 
governance. Urge all new Board Members to understand that this role is unique, and 
we don’t want to be in the weeds of the operations. Make sure policies are in place 
and the GM is provided with the tools that he needs to run the district. Thanked the 
rest of the Board Members. It’s been a pleasure to work with Dir. Edwards. BC 
Johnson you are off to a great start, thank you for your leadership. Thanked everyone.  
 
Dir. Adler: (ABSENT) 
 
Dir. Hanenkrat: Thanked all the staff. Dir. Holm and Dir. Edwards, it’s been a pleasure 
working with you.  
 
Board Chair Johnson: Glad Brian asked Dir. Edwards and Dir. Holm to come to the 
next board meeting. Fight the good fight with the staff, the board appreciates you. 
Thank you, Dir. Holm and Dir. Edwards, as well as Dir. Hanenkrat for dedicated 
service. So thankful that Dir. Hanenkrat will be with me.  

 

13



Dir. Edwards: Thanked everyone. The people here are like a family. Everybody wants 
to do a good job and that’s impressive to me. AA Zuercher you are a jewel, you have 
taken the reigns during a hard time. FS Bond you keep everyone’s head above water. 
Been wonderful to meet so many people. BC Johnson you are phenomenal. Dir. 
Hanenkrat has real integrity when people ask about the board. So glad we had this 
transition. Thanked Arla Miller and GM Vitulli. Anyone can learn things but it’s how 
you talk and that’s how you get their character. Leaving the district, I feel comfortable. 
The district is in good hands.  
 
Adjournment: Board Chair Johnson adjourned the meeting at 7:31 pm. 
 

These minutes approved this 19th day of July 2023. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
              
     Mary Johnson, Board Chair      Brian Vitulli, General Manager  

14



Tillamook County Transportation District 

Tillamook County Transportation District 
Annual Board Meeting Schedule for 2023 

January January 19, 2023 

February February 16, 2023 

March March 16, 2023 

April April 20, 2023 

May May 18, 2023 

June (adopt budget) June 15, 2023 

July July 19, 2023 

August August 16, 2023 

September September 20, 2023 

October October 18, 2023 

November November 15, 2023 

December December 20, 2023 

The Board of Directors typically meets on the 3rd Wednesday of the month at 
6:00pm unless rescheduled as listed below.  The meetings always take place at 
the Transportation building, in the Bob Kenny Board Hearing Room at 3600 Third 
Street, Tillamook Oregon 97141. 

* Moved to the 4th Wednesday to provide adequate time to complete financial 
and service performance reports for board packet.

15



TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT POLICY 

DIRECTORS POWERS, DUTIES, RESPONSIBILITIES, AND 
MEMBERSHIP  Number:    10 

Adopted by the Board of Directors on January 13, 2005 
Last reviewed: July 19, 2023 Pages:         2 

Purpose   
The purpose of this policy is to specify the requirements for membership on the Board 
of Directors and the responsibilities of the position as an elected official. 

Positions and Terms 
1. The Board of Directors of the District shall consist of seven (07) members serving

staggered four (04) year terms, following term adjustments as prescribed in
HB2853.

2. The Tillamook County Clerk’s office provides for each Board member to be
identified by a position number.  Position numbers shall be transferred to the
successors of each Board member.

3. All Board members shall serve at large.

Election of Board Members 
The election of Board members shall be conducted as provided by ORS Chapter 255. 

Term of Office 
Except where the Board is filling a vacancy on the Board, terms of office shall start on 
July 1 following the election. 

Oath of Office 
Each newly elected or appointed Board member may take an oath of office at a 
regularly scheduled, monthly Board meeting. 

Qualifications 
Board members may not be an employee of the transportation district as provided in 
ORS 198.115, and this shall take effect in accordance with this statute.  No person shall 
be eligible to be a Board member who is not at the time of election or appointment a 
primary resident of Tillamook County.  No person elected or appointed to the Board 
shall be seated unless such person meets the qualifications as stated above.  If 
questions exist regarding the eligibility of any candidate, the Board shall obtain an 
opinion from legal counsel before seating such person.  

Maintenance of Eligibility 
Board members must maintain their eligibility throughout the term of office.  For 
example, as residency is an eligibility requirement, a director who moves out of the 
District during the term of office must resign his or her position. 

Vacancies 
As per ORS 198.320, vacancies on the Board shall be filled by appointment by a 
majority of the remaining members of the Board.  The period of service of a person 

16



appointed to fill a vacancy shall expire on June 30 after the next District election at 
which a successor is elected to fill the remainder of the term.  

Meeting the Needs of the District 
It is the policy of the TCTD Board of Directors to exercise those powers granted to it, 
and to carry out those duties assigned to it by law, in such a way as to best meet the 
needs of the public. 

Primary Duties 
The TCTD Board of Directors has the following primary responsibilities: To adopt the 
annual budget, create and interpret District policies, hire the District’s General Manager 
and serve as its contract review board.  

Formulation and Interpretation of District Policy 
The most important activity of the Board is the formulation and interpretation of District 
policies.  The Board shall establish policy, reserving to itself all authority and 
responsibility not expressly assigned to other District officers and personnel. 

Emergencies 
The Board may appoint members of the Board to temporarily fill District staff positions in 
an emergency situation.  The Board must declare the lack of staff an emergency and 
set forth time limits of the appointments.  

Board Members Authorized By Official Board Action Only 
No individual Board member may speak for or act on behalf of the Board or District, 
except as authorized to do so by official Board action as recorded in the official minutes, 
guidelines, or policies of the District. 

Ethical Standards 
Board members act as representatives of the citizens of the District.  Therefore, Board 
members shall adhere to the highest ethical standards in the conduct of District 
business. 

Board Member Education 
In order to effectively carry out their duties, Board members should be adequately 
informed. Members are required to attend at least one (1) conference and/or other 
training programs as the Board may authorize. 

Public Accountability 
Board members need to keep the public informed on all District matters, make decisions 
based on the transportation needs of the public, spend the District’s money with 
prudence and trust, and place the needs of the public above the ambitions of the Board 
or the District.  

Board Member Compensation 
Members will be paid a $50 stipend per meeting for attendance at public meetings 
convened for the purpose of conducting TCTD business, pursuant to ORS 198.190.  
Such compensation shall not be deemed lucrative.  Board members shall be 
reimbursed for their actual and reasonable travel and other expenses incurred in the 
performance of official District duties. 

17



_ _ 

BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 

Authorizing Signing Authority for 
District Bank and Investment 
Accounts 

RESOLUTION NO. 23-22 

WHEREAS, the Tillamook County Transportation District (the "District") invests 
District funds through the Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) as well as Umpqua 
Bank; 

WHEREAS, all transactions must be authorized by an approved signer on behalf 
of the District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County Transportation 
District Board of Directors: 

1. That Mary Johnson, Linda Adler, Gary Hanenkrat, Thomas Fiorelli, Marni
Johnston, Jim Heffernan, and Jonathan Bean are Directors of the District,
and are hereby authorized to sign on behalf of the District for the LGIP and
Umpqua Bank accounts.

2. That Brian Vitulli is the General Manager and hereby is authorized to sign
on behalf of the District for the LGIP and Umpqua Bank accounts.

3. Any designated depository ("Bank") of the District is authorized and directed
to honor and pay any checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of
money withdrawing funds from any account of the District when bearing or
purporting to bear the facsimile signatures of the persons identified in
Sections One and Two of this Resolution, whether such facsimile signatures
be made by stamp, machine, or other mechanical device·

4. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage and
shall remain in force until revoked by written notice to the affected bank of
the action taken by the Board of Directors of the District. This Resolution
supersedes previous motions and resolutions regarding authorized signers
for District investment and bank accounts.

INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 19th day of July  2023.

ATTEST: 

Mary Johnson, Board Chair Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



































































































































TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT POLICY 
 

DIRECTORS POWERS, DUTIES, RESPONSIBILITIES, AND 
MEMBERSHIP  Number:    10 

Adopted by the Board of Directors on January 13, 2005 
Last reviewed: July 19, 2023 Pages:         2 

 
Purpose   
The purpose of this policy is to specify the requirements for membership on the Board 
of Directors and the responsibilities of the position as an elected official. 

Positions and Terms 
1. The Board of Directors of the District shall consist of seven (07) members serving 

staggered four (04) year terms, following term adjustments as prescribed in 
HB2853. 

2. The Tillamook County Clerk’s office provides for each Board member to be 
identified by a position number.  Position numbers shall be transferred to the 
successors of each Board member. 

3. All Board members shall serve at large. 

Election of Board Members 
The election of Board members shall be conducted as provided by ORS Chapter 255. 
 
Term of Office 
Except where the Board is filling a vacancy on the Board, terms of office shall start on 
July 1 following the election. 
 
Oath of Office 
Each newly elected or appointed Board member may take an oath of office at a 
regularly scheduled, monthly Board meeting. 
 
Qualifications 
Board members may not be an employee of the transportation district as provided in 
ORS 198.115, and this shall take effect in accordance with this statute.  No person shall 
be eligible to be a Board member who is not at the time of election or appointment a 
primary resident of Tillamook County.  No person elected or appointed to the Board 
shall be seated unless such person meets the qualifications as stated above.  If 
questions exist regarding the eligibility of any candidate, the Board shall obtain an 
opinion from legal counsel before seating such person.  
 
Maintenance of Eligibility 
Board members must maintain their eligibility throughout the term of office.  For 
example, as residency is an eligibility requirement, a director who moves out of the 
District during the term of office must resign his or her position. 
 
Vacancies 
As per ORS 198.320, vacancies on the Board shall be filled by appointment by a 
majority of the remaining members of the Board.  The period of service of a person 



appointed to fill a vacancy shall expire on June 30 after the next District election at 
which a successor is elected to fill the remainder of the term.  
 
Meeting the Needs of the District 
It is the policy of the TCTD Board of Directors to exercise those powers granted to it, 
and to carry out those duties assigned to it by law, in such a way as to best meet the 
needs of the public. 
 
Primary Responsibilities 
The TCTD Board of Directors has the following primary responsibilities: 

• To adopt the annual budget; 

• Create and interpret District policies; 

• Hire the District’s General Manager; and 

• Serve as its contract review board.  
 
Formulation and Interpretation of District Policy 
The most important activity of the Board is the formulation and interpretation of District 
policies.  The Board shall establish policy, reserving to itself all authority and 
responsibility not expressly assigned to other District officers and personnel. 
 
Emergencies 
The Board may appoint members of the Board to temporarily fill District staff positions in 
an emergency situation.  The Board must declare the lack of staff an emergency and 
set forth time limits of the appointments.  
 
Board Members Authorized By Official Board Action Only 
No individual Board member may speak for or act on behalf of the Board or District, 
except as authorized to do so by official Board action as recorded in the official minutes, 
guidelines, or policies of the District. 
 
Ethical Standards 
Board members act as representatives of the citizens of the District.  Therefore, Board 
members shall adhere to the highest ethical standards in the conduct of District 
business. 
 
Board Member Education 
In order to effectively carry out their duties, Board members should be adequately 
informed. Members are required to attend at least one (1) conference and/or other 
training programs per year as the Board may authorize. 
 
Public Accountability 
Board members need to keep the public informed on all District matters, make decisions 
based on the transportation needs of the public, spend the District’s money with 
prudence and trust, and place the needs of the public above the ambitions of the Board 
or the District.  
 
Board Member Compensation 
Members will be paid a $50 stipend per meeting for attendance at public meetings 
convened for the purpose of conducting TCTD business, pursuant to ORS 198.190.  



Such compensation shall not be deemed lucrative.  Board members shall be 
reimbursed for their actual and reasonable travel and other expenses incurred in the 
performance of official District duties. 
 
 



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

 
Authorizing the General Manager  ) 
to Execute ODOT STIF IC  ) 
Grant Agreement No. 35588 )     RESOLUTION NO. 23-26 
  
 

WHEREAS, the Tillamook County Transportation District (“District”) has received 
a grant from the Oregon Department of Transportation (“ODOT”) under Section 5311(f) / 
STIF Intercommunity Discretionary fund to support projects that enhance the Statewide 
Transit Network Program, which grant is memorialized in ODOT Grant Agreement No. 
35588; and 

 
WHEREAS, ODOT allocated funding to the District for the capital purchase of one 

Route 5 Coastliner expansion transit vehicle; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District Board of Directors wishes to authorize the General 

Manager to execute ODOT Grant Agreement No. 35588 in the amount of $246,400 on 
behalf of the District to aid in the financing of the capital purchase of one transit vehicle. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County Transportation 

District Board of Directors: 
 
that the General Manager is hereby authorized to accept and execute ODOT Grant 

Agreement No. 35588 in the amount of $246,400 on behalf of the Tillamook County 
Transportation District, to purchase one transit vehicle between July 1, 2023 and June 
30, 2027.  
 
 
 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 19th day of July 2023. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
Mary Johnson, Board Chair Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

 



Misc. Contracts and Agreements
Agreement No. 35588

STATE

 

Page 1 of  19

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION DIVISION
OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

 
This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the State of Oregon, acting by and 
through its Department of Transportation, Public Transportation Division, hereinafter referred to as 
"State," and Tillamook County Transportation District, hereinafter referred to as "Recipient," 
and collectively referred to as the "Parties."
 

 

AGREEMENT
1. Effective Date.  This Agreement shall become effective on the later of July 1, 2023 or the 

date when this Agreement is fully executed and approved as required by applicable law.  Unless 
otherwise terminated or extended, grant funds under this Agreement shall be available for 
project costs incurred on or before June 30, 2027 (the "Expiration Date").  No grant funds 
are available for any expenditures after the Expiration Date.  State's obligation to disburse 
grant funds under this Agreement shall end as provided in Section 10 of this Agreement.

2. Agreement Documents.  This Agreement consists of this document and the following 
documents, all of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference:

Exhibit A:  Project Description and Budget

Exhibit B:  Financial Information

Exhibit C:  Subagreement Insurance Requirements and Recipient Insurance 
Requirements

In the event of a conflict between two or more of the documents comprising this Agreement, 
the language in the document with the highest precedence shall control.  The precedence of 
each of the documents comprising this Agreement is as follows, listed from highest precedence 
to lowest precedence:  this Agreement without Exhibits; Exhibit A; Exhibit B; Exhibit C.

3. Project Cost; Grant Funds. State shall provide Recipient an amount not to exceed 
$246,400.00 (the "Grant Funds"). Recipient acknowledges and agrees that State may change 
the amount of funds available under this Agreement, based on availability of funds and other 
factors as determined by State, upon notification to Recipient in accordance with Section 11.g 
of this agreement. Recipient will be responsible for all Project costs not covered by the Grant 
Funds. 

4. Project.  The Grant Funds shall be used solely for the project described in Exhibit A (the 
"Project") and shall not be used for any other purpose. No Grant Funds will be disbursed for any 
changes to the Project unless such changes are approved by State by amendment pursuant 
to Section 11.d hereof.

5. Progress Reports. . Recipient shall submit quarterly progress reports to State no later than 
45 days after the close of each quarterly reporting period. Reporting periods are July through 
September, October through December, January through March, and April through June. 
Reports must be in a format acceptable to State and must be entered into the Oregon Public 
Transit Information System (OPTIS), which may be accessed at https://www.oregon.gov/
odot/RPTD/Pages/index.aspx. If Recipient is unable to access OPTIS, reports must be sent 
to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.state.or.us. Reports shall include a statement of revenues and 
expenditures for each quarter, including documentation of local match contributions and 
expenditures. State reserves the right to request such additional information as may be 
necessary to comply with federal or state reporting requirements.

6. Disbursement and Recovery of Grant Funds.
a. Disbursement Generally. State shall reimburse eligible costs incurred in carrying out 

the Project, up to the Grant Funds amount provided in Section 3. Reimbursements shall 
be made by State within 30 days of State's approval of a request for reimbursement from 
Recipient using a format that is acceptable to State. Requests for reimbursement must 
be entered into OPTIS or sent to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.state.or.us. Eligible costs are 
the reasonable and necessary costs incurred by Recipient, or under a subagreement 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588
 

Page 2 of  19

described in Section 9 of this Agreement, in performance of the Project and that are not 
excluded from reimbursement by State, either by this Agreement or by exclusion as a 
result of financial review or audit.

b. Conditions Precedent to Disbursement.  State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds 
to Recipient is subject to satisfaction, with respect to each disbursement, of each of the 
following conditions precedent:

i. State has received funding, appropriations, limitations, allotments or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow State, in the exercise of its reasonable 
administrative discretion, to make the disbursement.

ii. Recipient is in compliance with the terms of this Agreement.
iii. Recipient's representations and warranties set forth in Section 7 hereof are true 

and correct on the date of disbursement with the same effect as though made on 
the date of disbursement.

iv. Recipient has provided to State a request for reimbursement using a format that is 
acceptable to and approved by State.  Recipient must submit its final request for 
reimbursement following completion of the Project and no later than 60 days after 
the Expiration Date. Failure to submit the final request for reimbursement within 
60 days after the Expiration Date could result in non-payment.

v. Any audit findings relating to Recipient's use of funds under this Agreement or any 
other agreement with State have been resolved.

c. Recovery of Funds.
i. Recovery of Misexpended Funds or Nonexpended Funds. Any funds disbursed to 

Recipient under this Agreement that are either (i) disbursed but unexpended 
as of the Expiration Date ("Unexpended Funds") or (ii) expended in violation or 
contravention of one or more of the provisions of this Agreement ("Misexpended 
Funds") must be returned to State. Recipient shall return all Misexpended Funds 
to State no later than 15 days after State's written demand. Recipient shall return 
all Unexpended Funds to State within 15 days after the earlier of expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.

ii. Recovery of Funds upon Termination. If this Agreement is terminated under either 
Section 10(a)(i) or Section 10(a)(v) below, Recipient shall return to State all funds 
disbursed to Recipient within 15 days after State's written demand for the same.

7. Representations and Warranties of Recipient.  Recipient represents and warrants to State 
as follows:

a. Organization and Authority.  Recipient is duly organized and validly existing under the 
laws of the State of Oregon and is eligible to receive the funds. Recipient has full power, 
authority, and legal right to make this Agreement and to incur and perform its obligations 
hereunder, and the making and performance by Recipient of this Agreement(1) have 
been duly authorized by all necessary action of Recipient and (2) do not and will not 
violate any provision of any applicable law, rule, regulation, or order of any court, 
regulatory commission, board, or other administrative agency or any provision of 
Recipient's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, if applicable, (3) do not and will not 
result in the breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under any other 
agreement or instrument to which Recipient is a party or by which Recipient or any of 
its properties may be bound or affected. No authorization, consent, license, approval 
of, filing or registration with or notification to any governmental body or regulatory or 
supervisory authority is required for the execution, delivery or performance by Recipient 
of this Agreement.

b. Binding Obligation.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by 
Recipient and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Recipient, enforceable in 
accordance with its terms subject to the laws of bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar 
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally.

c. No Solicitation.  Recipient's officers, employees, and agents shall neither solicit nor 
accept gratuities, favors, or any item of monetary value from contractors, potential 
contractors, or parties to subagreements, except as permitted by applicable law. No 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588
 

Page 3 of  19

member or delegate to the Congress of the United States or State of Oregon employee 
shall be admitted to any share or part of this Agreement or any benefit arising therefrom.

d. No Debarment.  Neither Recipient nor its principals is presently debarred, suspended, or 
voluntarily excluded from any federally-assisted transaction, or proposed for debarment, 
declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from participating in this Agreement by any 
state or federal agency. Recipient agrees to notify State immediately if it is debarred, 
suspended or otherwise excluded by any state or federal agency or if circumstances 
change that may affect this status, including without limitation upon any relevant 
indictments or convictions of crimes. 

 

The warranties set in this section are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other warranties 
set forth in this Agreement or implied by law.

8. Records Maintenance and Access; Audit.
a. Records, Access to Records and Facilities.  Recipient shall make and retain proper 

and complete books of record and account and maintain all fiscal records related to 
this Agreement and the Project in accordance with all applicable generally accepted 
accounting principles, generally accepted governmental auditing standards and state 
minimum standards for audits of municipal corporations. Recipient shall require that 
each of its subrecipients and subcontractors complies with these requirements. State, 
the Secretary of State of the State of Oregon (Secretary), the United States Department 
of Transportation (USDOT), the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and their duly 
authorized representatives shall have access to the books, documents, papers and 
records of Recipient that are directly related to this Agreement, the funds provided 
hereunder, or the Project for the purpose of making audits and examinations. In addition, 
State, the Secretary, USDOT, FTA and their duly authorized representatives may make 
and retain excerpts, copies, and transcriptions of the foregoing books, documents, 
papers, and records. Recipient shall permit authorized representatives of State, the 
Secretary, USDOT and FTA to perform site reviews of the Project, and to inspect all 
vehicles, real property, facilities and equipment purchased by Recipient as part of the 
Project, and any transportation services rendered by Recipient.

b. Retention of Records.  Recipient shall retain and keep accessible all books, documents, 
papers, and records that are directly related to this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, records relating to capital assets funded by this Agreement, the funds or the 
Project for a minimum of six (6) years, or such longer period as may be required by 
other provisions of this Agreement or applicable law, following the Expiration Date. If 
there are unresolved audit questions at the end of the six-year period, Recipient shall 
retain the records until the questions are resolved.

c. Expenditure Records.  Recipient shall document the expenditure of all Grant Funds 
disbursed by State under this Agreement.  Recipient shall create and maintain all 
expenditure records in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in 
sufficient detail to permit State to verify how the funds were expended.

d. Audit Requirements.
i. Recipient shall, at Recipient's own expense, submit to State, Public Transportation 

Division, 555 13th Street NE, Suite 3, Salem, Oregon, 97301-4179 or to 
ODOTPTDreporting@odot.state.or.us, a copy of, or electronic link to, any annual 
audit covering the funds expended under this Agreement by Recipient or a 
party to any subagreement with Recipient, as well as the annual audit of any 
subrecipient(s), contractor(s), or subcontractor(s) of Recipient responsible for the 
financial management of funds received under this Agreement.

ii. Recipient shall save, protect and hold harmless State from the cost of any audits 
or special investigations performed by the Secretary with respect to the funds 
expended under this Agreement. Recipient acknowledges and agrees that any audit 
costs incurred by Recipient as a result of allegations of fraud, waste or abuse are 
ineligible for reimbursement under this or any other agreement between Recipient 
and State.



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588
 

Page 4 of  19

 This section 8 shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement.
9. Recipient Subagreements and Procurements

a. Subagreements.  Recipient may enter into agreements with sub-recipients, contractors 
or subcontractors (collectively, "subagreements") for performance of the Project.

i. All subagreements must be in writing executed by Recipient and must incorporate 
and pass through all of the applicable requirements of this Agreement to the other 
party or parties to the subagreement(s). Use of a subagreement does not relieve 
Recipient of its responsibilities under this Agreement.

ii. Recipient shall require all of its contractors performing work under this Agreement 
to name State as a third-party beneficiary of Recipient's subagreement with the 
contractor and to name State as an additional or "dual" obligee on contractors' 
payment and performance bonds.

iii. Recipient shall provide State with a copy of any signed subagreement, as well as 
any other purchasing or contracting documentation, upon request by State. This 
Paragraph 9.a.iii. shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement.

iv. Recipient must report to State any material breach of a term or condition of a 
subagreement within ten (10) days of Recipient discovering the breach.

b. Subagreement indemnity; insurance.
i. Recipient's subagreement(s) shall require the other party to such 

subagreements(s) that is not a unit of local government as defined in ORS 
190.003, if any, to indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless State and 
its officers, employees and agents from and against any and all claims, 
actions, liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses, including attorneys' 
fees, arising from a tort, as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260, 
caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of  the other party to Recipient's subagreement 
or any of such party's officers, agents, employees or subcontractors 
("Claims"). It is the specific intention of the Parties that the State shall, 
in all instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of the State, be indemnified by the other party to 
Recipient's subagreement(s) from and against any and all Claims.

ii. Any such indemnification shall also provide that neither Recipient's subrecipient(s), 
contractor(s) nor subcontractor(s) (collectively "Subrecipients"), nor any attorney 
engaged by Recipient's Subrecipient(s), shall defend any claim in the name of 
the State or any agency of the State of Oregon, nor purport to act as legal 
representative of the State of Oregon or any of its agencies, without the prior 
written consent of the Oregon Attorney General. The State may, at any time at its 
election, assume its own defense and settlement in the event that it determines 
that Recipient's Subrecipient is prohibited from defending State or that Recipient's 
Subrecipient is not adequately defending State's interests, or that an important 
governmental principle is at issue or that it is in the best interests of State to 
do so. State reserves all rights to pursue claims it may have against Recipient's 
Subrecipient if State elects to assume its own defense.

iii. Recipient shall require the other party, or parties, to each of its subagreements 
that are not units of local government as defined in ORS 190.003 to obtain and 
maintain insurance of the types and in the amounts provided in Exhibit C to 
this Agreement. Recipient may specify insurance requirements of its contractor(s) 
above the minimum insurance requirements specified in Exhibit C. Recipient shall 
verify its contractor(s) meet the insurance requirements in Exhibit C.

c. Procurements. Recipient shall make purchases of any equipment, materials, or services 
for the Project under procedures that comply with Oregon law, as applicable, including 
all applicable provisions of the Oregon Public Contracting Code (Oregon Revised Statutes 
(ORS) Chapters 279 A, B and C) and rules, ensuring that:

i. Recipient shall make purchases of any equipment, materials, or services for 
the Project under procedures that comply with Oregon law, as applicable, 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588
 

Page 5 of  19

including all applicable provisions of the Oregon Public Contracting Code and rules. 
Procurements of rolling stock, facilities and personal services for any amount, and 
all procurements for an amount greater than $100,000 must be approved by State 
prior to solicitation.

ii. Recipient shall complete all purchases, including installation, and all construction 
of capital assets funded under this Agreement prior to the Expiration Date of this 
Agreement. If local circumstances prevent purchase, installation, or construction 
by the specified date, Recipient will notify State in writing of the circumstances 
regarding the delay. Such notification must be received at least forty-five (45) days 
prior to the expiration of the Agreement. Agreement amendment for time will be 
considered in extenuating circumstances.

d. STIF Procurements

Pursuant to Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 732-044-0050(6) 
Recipient shall:

i. Establish useful life standards for capital assets acquired pursuant to STIF 
Discretionary grant agreements which meet or exceed the duration of those 
established by State.

ii. Use State's published procedures or substantially similar procedures and ensure 
that Sub-Recipients use the same procedures for the disposition of capital assets 
acquired with STIF funds.

iii. Retain the net proceeds from a sale or other disposition of a capital asset to reinvest 
in a future STIF capital project or return the net proceeds to State.  Net proceeds 
are the disposal proceeds less original value, depreciation, and disposal costs. If 
non-STIF funds were used in the original purchase, only the 
proportion representing the STIF contribution to the purchase is 
subject to this rule.

iv. Establish written procedures to ensure that a capital asset is maintained in safe 
operating condition.

v. Maintain insurance coverage, or require Sub-Recipients to maintain insurance 
coverage that meets or exceeds the standards in Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 
806.070.

vi. Ensure that vehicles purchased in whole or in part with STIF funds are titled with 
the Oregon Department of Transportation Driver and Motor Vehicle Service Division 
pursuant to ORS 803.045 and supporting rules, with ODOT Public Transportation 
Division listed as a security interest holder, subject to the following additional 
requirements:

a. If the vehicle is registered in the name of a Sub-Recipient receiving the vehicle, 
and the Sub-Recipient is not a Qualified Entity (OAR 732-040-005(26)) or Public 
Transportation Service Provider (OAR 732-040-005(25)), then the Qualified Entity 
or Public Transportation Service Provider must be listed on the vehicle title as the 
primary security interest holder.

b. If the vehicle was purchased with federal funds in addition to STIF funds, and 
the federal funding source requires the vehicle to be titled otherwise than provided 
in this rule, then the federal titling requirements prevail. 

e. Conflicts of Interest. Recipient's public officials shall comply with Oregon's government 
ethics laws, ORS 244.010 et seq., as those laws may be subsequently amended.

10. Termination
a. Termination by State.  State may terminate this Agreement effective upon delivery of 

written notice of termination to Recipient, or at such later date as may be established 
by State in such written notice, if:

i. Recipient fails to perform the Project within the time specified herein or any 
extension thereof or commencement, continuation or timely completion of the 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588
 

Page 6 of  19

Project by Recipient is, for any reason, rendered improbable, impossible, or illegal; 
or

ii. State fails to receive funding, appropriations, limitations or other expenditure 
authority sufficient to allow State, in the exercise of its reasonable administrative 
discretion, to continue to make payments for performance of this Agreement; or

iii. Federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines are modified or interpreted in 
such a way that the Project is no longer allowable or no longer eligible for funding 
under this Agreement; or

iv. The Project would not produce results commensurate with the further expenditure 
of funds; or

v. Recipient takes any action pertaining to this Agreement without the approval of 
State and which under the provisions of this Agreement would have required the 
approval of State.

b. Termination by Recipient.  Recipient may terminate this Agreement effective upon 
delivery of written notice of termination to State, or at such later date as may be 
established by Recipient in such written notice, if:

i. Upon notification to State of its desire to withdraw from eligibility to receive the 
funds and providing to State a reason acceptable to State for the withdrawal; or

ii. If federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines are modified or interpreted 
in such a way that the Project is no longer allowable or no longer eligible for funding 
under this Agreement.

c. Termination by Either Party.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement upon at 
least ten days' notice to the other Party and failure of the other Party to cure within the 
period provided in the notice, if the other Party fails to comply with any of the terms 
of this Agreement.

11. General Provisions
a. Contribution. If any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding 

alleging a tort as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260 ("Third Party Claim") against 
State or Recipient with respect to which the other Party may have liability, the notified 
Party must promptly notify the other Party in writing of the Third Party Claim and deliver 
to the other Party a copy of the claim, process, and all legal pleadings with respect to 
the Third Party Claim. Each Party is entitled to participate in the defense of a Third Party 
Claim, and to defend a Third Party Claim with counsel of its own choosing. Receipt by a 
Party of the notice and copies required in this paragraph and meaningful opportunity for 
the Party to participate in the investigation, defense and settlement of the Third Party 
Claim with counsel of its own choosing are conditions precedent to that Party's liability 
with respect to the Third Party Claim.

With respect to a Third Party Claim for which State is jointly liable with Recipient (or would 
be if joined in the Third Party Claim ), State shall contribute to the amount of expenses 
(including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred and paid or payable by Recipient in such proportion as is appropriate 
to reflect the relative fault of the State on the one hand and of the Recipient on the other 
hand in connection with the events which resulted in such expenses, judgments, fines or 
settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative 
fault of State on the one hand and of Recipient on the other hand shall be determined 
by reference to, among other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to 
information and opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such 
expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts. State's contribution amount in any 
instance is capped to the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law, 
including the Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if State had sole liability 
in the proceeding.

With respect to a Third Party Claim for which Recipient is jointly liable with State (or 
would be if joined in the Third Party Claim), Recipient shall contribute to the amount of 
expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588
 

Page 7 of  19

actually and reasonably incurred and paid or payable by State in such proportion as is 
appropriate to reflect the relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and of State on the 
other hand in connection with the events which resulted in such expenses, judgments, 
fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. 
The relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and of State on the other hand shall be 
determined by reference to, among other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, 
access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in 
such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts. Recipient's contribution amount 
in any instance is capped to the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon 
law, including the Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if it had sole liability 
in the proceeding.

b. Dispute Resolution.  The Parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute 
arising out of this Agreement. In addition, the Parties may agree to utilize a jointly 
selected mediator or arbitrator (for non-binding arbitration) to resolve the dispute short 
of litigation.

c. Insurance. Recipient shall meet the insurance requirements within Exhibit C.
d. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended or extended only by a written 

instrument signed by both Parties and approved as required by applicable law.
e. Duplicate Payment.  Recipient is not entitled to compensation or any other form of 

duplicate, overlapping or multiple payments for the same work performed under this 
Agreement from any agency of the State of Oregon or the United States of America or 
any other party, organization or individual.

f. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  State and Recipient are the only Parties to this 
Agreement and are the only Parties entitled to enforce its terms.  Nothing in this 
Agreement gives, is intended to give, or shall be construed to give or provide any benefit 
or right, whether directly or indirectly, to a third person unless such a third person is 
individually identified by name herein and expressly described as an intended beneficiary 
of the terms of this Agreement.

Recipient acknowledges and agrees that the Federal Government, absent express written 
consent by the Federal Government, is not a party to this Agreement and shall not be 
subject to any obligations or liabilities to the Recipient, contractor or any other party 
(whether or not a party to the Agreement) pertaining to any matter resulting from this 
Agreement.

g. Notices. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any communications 
between the Parties hereto or notices to be given hereunder shall be given in writing by 
personal delivery, facsimile, email, or mailing the same, postage prepaid, to Recipient 
Contact or State Contact at the address or number set forth     on the signature page 
of this Agreement, or to such other addresses or numbers as either Party may hereafter 
indicate pursuant to this Section 11.i. Any communication or notice personally delivered 
shall be deemed to be given when actually delivered. Any communication or notice 
delivered by facsimile shall be deemed to be given when receipt of the transmission 
is generated by the transmitting machine, and to be effective against State, such 
facsimile transmission must be confirmed by telephone notice to State Contact. Any 
communication by email shall be deemed to be given when the recipient of the email 
acknowledges receipt of the email. Any communication or notice mailed shall be deemed 
to be given when received.  

h. Governing Law, Consent to Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon without regard to principles 
of conflicts of law. Any claim, action, suit or proceeding (collectively, "Claim") between 
State (or any other agency or department of the State of Oregon) and Recipient that 
arises from or relates to this Agreement shall be brought and conducted solely and 
exclusively within the Circuit Court of Marion County in the State of Oregon. In no event 
shall this section be construed as a waiver by the State of Oregon of any form of defense 
or immunity, whether sovereign immunity, governmental immunity, immunity based on 
the eleventh amendment to the Constitution of the United States or otherwise, from any 
Claim or from the jurisdiction of any court. EACH PARTY HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE 
EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURT, WAIVES ANY OBJECTION TO VENUE, AND 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588
 

Page 8 of  19

WAIVES ANY CLAIM THAT SUCH FORUM IS AN INCONVENIENT FORUM.
i. Compliance with Law. Recipient shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, 

regulations, executive orders and ordinances applicable to the Agreement or to the 
implementation of the Project, as applicable to Recipient. Without limiting the generality 
of the foregoing, Recipient expressly agrees to comply with (i) Title VI of Civil Rights 
Act of 1964; (ii) Title V and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; (iii) the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and ORS 659A.142; (iv) all regulations and 
administrative rules established pursuant to the foregoing laws; and (v) all other 
applicable requirements of federal and state civil rights and rehabilitation statutes, rules 
and regulations.

j. Independent Contractor.  Recipient shall perform the Project as an independent 
contractor and not as an agent or employee of State. Recipient has no right or authority 
to incur or create any obligation for or legally bind State in any way. State cannot and 
will not control the means or manner by which Recipient performs the Project, except 
as specifically set forth in this Agreement. Recipient is responsible for determining the 
appropriate means and manner of performing the Project. Recipient acknowledges and 
agrees that Recipient is not an "officer", "employee", or "agent" of State, as those terms 
are used in ORS 30.265, and shall not make representations to third parties to the 
contrary.  

k. Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining 
terms and provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the Parties 
shall be construed and enforced as if this Agreement did not contain the particular term 
or provision held to be invalid.

l. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts (by 
facsimile or otherwise), each of which is an original and all of which together are deemed 
one agreement binding on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not signatories 
to the same counterpart.

m. Integration and Waiver.  This Agreement, including all Exhibits, constitutes the 
entire agreement between the Parties on the subject matter hereof.  There are no 
understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified herein 
regarding this Agreement.  The delay or failure of either Party to enforce any provision of 
this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver by that Party of that or any other provision.  
Recipient, by the signature below of its authorized representative, hereby acknowledges 
that it has read this Agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms 
and conditions.

n. Survival. The following provisions survive termination of this Agreement: Sections 6.c., 
8 and 11.

 
 



Page 9 of  19

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588
 
The Parties, by execution of this Agreement, hereby acknowledge that each Party has read this 
Agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms and conditions.
 

The Oregon Transportation Commission on October 20, 2010, approved Delegation Order Number 
OTC-01, which authorizes the Director of the Oregon Department of Transportation to administer 
programs related to public transit.

On March 1, 2012, the Director approved Delegation Order Number DIR-04, which delegates the 
authority to approve this Agreement to the Rail and Public Transit Division Administrator.

 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW



Page 10 of  19

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588
 
Tillamook County Transportation District,
by and through its
 
 
By  
(Legally designated representative)

 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
By  
 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY

(If required in local process)

 
By  
Recipient's Legal Counsel
 
Date  
 
 
Recipient Contact:
Brian Vitulli
3600 Third Street, Suite A
Tillamook, OR 97141-0188
1 (503) 842-3115
bvitulli@tillamookbus.com
 
State Contact:
Arla Miller
555 13th Street NE
Salem, OR 97301-4179
1 (503) 949-5415
Arla.MILLER@odot.state.or.us

 State of Oregon, by and through its
Department of Transportation
 
By  
Karyn Criswell
Public Transportation Division Administrator
 
Date  
 
 
APPROVAL RECOMMENDED

 
By Arla Miller

 
Date 06/16/2023

 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY
(For funding over $150,000)

 
By  
Assistant Attorney General
 
Name Sam Zeigler by email
(printed)

 
Date 02/01/2023

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed Agreement Return Address: ODOTPTDReporting@odot.state.or.us



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588

 

Page 11 of  19

EXHIBIT A

Project Description and Budget
 
Project Description/Statement of Work  
 
Project Title: STIF IC Tillamook County Transportation District 35588
Route 5 Coastliner Expansion Service Vehicle Purchase

P-23-3784-01 Item #1: Bus STD 35ft
 

Total Grant Amount Local Match Match Type(s)
$308,000.00 $246,400.00 $61,600.00 Local

Sub Total $308,000.00 $246,400.00 $61,600.00
 

Grand Total $308,000.00 $246,400.00 $61,600.00
 

 
1. BACKGROUND

In the 2017 legislative session, the Oregon Legislature passed House Bill 2017, the Statewide
Transportation Improvement Fund (STIF). The bill designated nine percent of the total funds
appropriated to be awarded to eligible Public Transportation Service Providers (PTSPs) based
on a competitive grant process. This nine percent is divided into a five-percent share for STIF
Discretionary projects and a four-percent share for STIF Intercommunity Discretionary projects. 

The STIF Discretionary fund is a flexible fund source that aims to expand or improve public
transportation services by supporting projects that create new service routes, adopt enhanced
forms of technology and data collection, maintain transit fleets in a state of good repair, and
advance the equity and sustainability of transportation in the state. 

The STIF Intercommunity Discretionary fund is housed with FTA Section 5311(f) funds under the
"Statewide Transit Network Program." The purpose of the Statewide Transit Network Program
is to support projects that enhance Oregon's statewide fixed route transit network by investing
in key transit hubs, closing gaps between two or more communities, improving access to and
from transit for pedestrians and bicyclists, improving collaboration and coordination between
agencies that results in functional benefits, or other activities that improve the function of the
overall transit network and serve the interests of more than one transit agency.

This Agreement describes the duties and responsibilities of State and Recipient in the
management and proper use of STIF funds or 5311(f) funds and the associated reporting
requirements.

2. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

This Agreement provides funding to purchase a passenger transportation vehicle to be used to
provide public transportation service. Public transportation service is defined as service to the
general public or special populations such as seniors and individuals with disabilities. Recipient
may use the vehicle to coordinate public and human service transportation services with other
agencies. Recipient will not lease the vehicle to another agency without the permission of State.

Funding under this Agreement is for the purchase of 1 transit vehicle as follows:

Useful life - 10 years or 350,000 miles; approximate length - 35 feet; estimated number of seats
- 24; estimated number of ADA securement stations - 2; fuel type - propane.

Purchase includes all equipment and supplies necessary to put the vehicle into service.

3. PROJECT DELIVERABLES, TASKS and SCHEDULE

Recipient will ensure that all purchases and installations must be completed prior to the
expiration date of this Agreement.



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588

 

Page 12 of  19

Estimated order date: July 1, 2023. 
Estimated delivery date: June 30, 2027.

For vehicles procured using State Price Agreement contracts managed by the Oregon
Department of Administrative Services, all vehicle orders will be reviewed and approved by
State prior to submission to selected vendor. State is responsible for submitting vehicle orders
to selected vendor. If Recipient does not purchase from the State Price Agreement contracts
managed by the Oregon Department of Administrative Services, requests for proposals to
procure the vehicles must be reviewed by State prior to solicitation for bids. All vehicle orders
will be reviewed by State prior to submission to the selected vendor.

State will retain title to the vehicles as primary security interest holder for as long as the vehicles
remains in public transportation service. Recipient must request permission from State to release
title for disposal when planning to sell or transfer a vehicle which has exceeded the minimum
useful standard for age or mileage, and must notify State when actual disposal has been
completed. Recipient must request permission from State in advance to transfer or otherwise
dispose of a vehicle prior to its meeting federal useful life standards. Recipient must request
permission from State to release title for changes.

Recipient will create and maintain a vehicle maintenance plan that utilizes the original equipment
manufacturer (OEM) requirements for each vehicle and meets FTA transit asset management
requirements in 49 Part CFR 625. Recipient will follow the plan to ensure each vehicle is
maintained in a state of good repair. Recipient will provide State a copy of the plan upon
request. 

4. PROJECT ACCOUNTING and MATCHING FUNDING

Recipient retains authority over costs and allocations of STIF funds within the guidelines
established by Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 184.751 through 184.758 and Oregon
Administrative Rules (OAR) Chapter 732. 

Eligible expenses that may be charged to this Agreement include grant administration, the
cost of the procurement process, delivery charges and post- delivery inspections. Aftermarket
equipment, graphics and other items directly associated with this vehicle and required to put
the vehicle into service are eligible. Purchase of an extended warranty is an eligible expense;
however, the eligible warranty shall not exceed the defined useful life of the vehicle. Licensing
and other post-delivery expenses are not eligible for reimbursement.

Recipient will provide matching funding from non-federal source(s). Sources of funding that
may be used as matching funding for this Agreement include federal funds, local funds, service
contract revenue, advertisement income, other earned income, cash donations, and other
verifiable in-kind contributions that are integral to the project budget. Recipient may not use
passenger fares as matching funding.

Recipient will subtract income from fares, tickets, and passes whether pre-paid or post-paid,
from the gross operating expenses of the service. State's obligation to reimburse Project costs
is contingent upon Recipient first paying or otherwise contributing its minimum match amount
set forth in this Exhibit A. Recipient may not count the same costs twice if they have multiple
agreements for which these costs may be eligible.

5. REPORTING AND INVOICING REQUIREMENTS

Recipient shall confirm the eligibility of any Sub-Recipient prior to distributing STIF moneys and
entering into an agreement with the Sub-Recipient. Recipient shall ensure that Sub-Recipients
maintain eligibility throughout the project period. Recipient shall provide State with copies of
agreement(s) made with Sub-Recipients within 30 days of execution of those agreements.

Per OAR 732-044-0040(1)(a), Recipient shall report on Project progress, outcomes achieved,
and expenditures of discretionary STIF funds by itself and its Sub-Recipients. Failure to use



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588

 

Page 13 of  19

STIF funds towards achievement of identified project deliverables may result in the cessation of
funding to Recipient for the remainder of the Agreement period. 

Recipient will provide reporting information as prescribed by State on the vehicle purchased
under this Agreement as long as the vehicle remains in public transportation service.

Recipient will submit a request for reimbursement in a format provided by State. Reimbursement
requests must include a cover letter and copies of all invoices associated with expenses identified
for reimbursement.

Project Progress Reporting

Recipient shall report Project progress quarterly through the Oregon Public Transit Information
System (OPTIS) Agency Periodic Report (APR) and shall include a brief status update for each
deliverable. Project reporting should align with project deliverables identified in this Agreement.
State will use reporting information to assess Recipient's progress by comparing task-based
expenditures to progress on deliverables.  

Outcomes Achieved Reporting

Recipient shall report outcomes achieved through project performance. Continued funding under
this Agreement is contingent upon reporting of outcomes achieved.

On a quarterly basis, in addition to continuing required elements in the APR, Recipient shall
complete a short narrative describing outcomes achieved in performance of the Project. For
the final quarter of the biennium, Recipient shall report on quarterly outcomes achieved as well
as summarize outcomes achieved over the duration of the Agreement.  Recipient shall provide
additional information on outcomes achieved when and where directed to do so by State in
reporting guidance. 

Outcomes achieved are defined in State's program guidance and that guidance provides State's
expectations surrounding all reporting requirements. For detailed instructions on quarterly,
annual, and biennial reporting, refer to State's STIF Discretionary/STN Reporting Guidance
document.  

Expenditures

Expenditures of STIF Discretionary funds will be tracked in OPTIS. Recipient must submit
reimbursement requests in OPTIS to receive reimbursement for Project expenditures.  

FOR CAPITAL ASSET AGREEMENTS:

Recipient shall ensure Satisfactory Continuing Control of capital assets, including real property,
purchased in whole or part under this Agreement while the capital assets are being used for
public transportation purposes. Satisfactory Continuing Control means the legal assurance that a
capital asset will remain available to be used for its originally-authorized purpose throughout its
useful life or until disposition.

An inventory of capital assets purchased in whole or in part with STIF funds will be created by
State in the OPTIS asset register. The inventory will include a description of the capital asset,
the date of purchase, the date put into public transportation service, the purchase price, the
amount of STIF funds contributed to the purchase, the source of other funds, the authorized use
per this agreement, the Recipient or Sub-Recipient using the capital asset (Owner/Operator),
and the condition of the asset.  Recipient shall report quarterly on all capital assets through the
OPTIS APR, providing information relevant to purchased capital assets, including but not limited
to, asset condition, and vehicle mileage.   

Recipient shall request authorization from State for the sale, transfer, or other disposition of any
Capital Asset purchased under this Agreement and shall report the amount of proceeds, if any,
from the sale to State. Capital asset useful life standards shall be the same as those outlined by
the Federal Transit Administration.



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588

 

Page 14 of  19

Recipient will provide reporting information as prescribed by State on the capital asset purchases
under this Agreement as long as the capital asset remain in public transportation service. 

Reimbursement requests for capital assets must include the following: a cover letter and copies
of all invoices associated with expenses identified for reimbursement. Where a vehicle asset
will be partially funded with federal funds, Recipient shall submit pre-award and post-delivery
certification forms documenting compliance to Altoona bus testing, Federal Motor Vehicle Safety
Standards, Buy America, and Disadvantaged Business enterprise requirements. 

Reporting on Mitigation of Tax Impacts to Low-income Populations

Per OAR 732-040-0025(1), Qualified Entities receiving STIF funds shall submit a report on any
actions taken by any PTSP located within the area of the Qualified Entity to mitigate the impact
of the STIF tax on passengers who reside in low-income communities. This report must be
submitted no later than 60 days after the end of each fiscal year in which the Qualified Entity
receives STIF funds.  

Recipient shall submit this report as instructed separately from this Agreement and shall attach
all responses submitted to Recipient by PTSPs receiving STIF discretionary funds that detail
actions taken by those PTSPs.



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588

Page 15 of  19

EXHIBIT B

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
 

This Agreement is financed by the funding source indicated below:
 

State Program State Funding Agency  Total State Funding
STF:  ORS 391.800
through ORS 391.830
and OAR Chapter 732,
Divisions 5, 10, and 30

And/Or 

STIF:  ORS 184.758
through ORS 184.766
and OAR Chapter 732,
Divisions 040, 042, and
044.

Oregon Department of
Transportation
355 Capitol St. N.E.
Salem, OR  97301-3871

$246,400.00

 
Administered By  
Public Transportation Division
555 13th Street NE
Salem, OR  97301-4179

 



Page 16 of  19

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588

 
EXHIBIT C

 

Insurance Requirements
 

Subagreement Insurance Requirements

GENERAL.

Recipient shall require in its first tier subagreements with entities that are not units of local 
government as defined in ORS 190.003, if any, to: i) obtain insurance specified under TYPES 
AND AMOUNTS and meeting the requirements under ADDITIONAL INSURED, "TAIL" COVERAGE, 
NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE, and CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE before performance 
under the subagreement commences, and ii) maintain the insurance in full force throughout 
the duration of the subagreement.  The insurance must be provided by insurance companies or 
entities that are authorized to transact the business of insurance and issue coverage in the State 
of Oregon and that are acceptable to State.  Recipient shall not authorize work to begin under 
subagreements until the insurance is in full force. Thereafter, Recipient shall monitor continued 
compliance with the insurance requirements on an annual or more frequent basis. Recipient shall 
incorporate appropriate provisions in the subagreement permitting it to enforce compliance with 
the insurance requirements and shall take all reasonable steps to enforce such compliance.  In 
no event shall Recipient permit work under a subagreement when Recipient is aware that the 
contractor is not in compliance with the insurance requirements. As used in this section, "first tier" 
means a subagreement in which the Recipient is a Party.

TYPES AND AMOUNTS.

WORKERS COMPENSATION. 
All employers, including Contractor, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 
shall comply with ORS 656.017 and shall provide Workers' Compensation Insurance coverage 
for those workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under ORS 656.126(2).  
The coverage shall include Employer's Liability Insurance with limits not less than $500,000 each 
accident. Contractor shall require compliance with these requirements in each of its 
subcontractor contracts.

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY. 
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be issued on an occurrence basis covering bodily 
injury and property damage and shall include personal and advertising injury liability, products 
and completed operations, and contractual liability coverage. When work to be performed includes 
operations or activity within 50 feet of any railroad property, bridge, trestle, track, roadbed, tunnel, 
underpass or crossing, the Contractor shall provide the Contractual Liability - Railroads CG 24 
17 endorsement, or equivalent, on the Commercial General Liability policy. Amounts below are a 
minimum requirement as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence. Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000.

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY. 
Automobile Liability Insurance covering Contractor's business-related automobile use covering all 
owned, non-owned, or hired vehicles for bodily injury and property. Amount below is a minimum 
requirement as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance (with 
separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability).

EXCESS/UMBRELLA LIABILITY.
A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance may be used to meet the required 



Page 17 of  19

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588

 
limits of insurance.

ADDITIONAL INSURED.  
The liability insurance coverages, except Professional Liability or Workers' Compensation/
Employer's Liability, if included, must include the "State of Oregon, the Oregon Transportation 
Commission and the Department of Transportation, and their respective officers, 
members, agents and employees" as an endorsed Additional Insured but only with respect 
to the contractor's activities to be performed under the Subagreement. Coverage shall be primary 
and non-contributory with any other insurance and self-insurance.

Additional Insured Endorsements on the Commercial General Liability shall be written on ISO Form 
CG 20 10 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of ongoing operations and ISO 
Form CG 20 37 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of completed operations. 
Additional Insured Endorsements shall be submitted with the Certificate(s) of Insurance and must 
be acceptable to the Recipient.

"TAIL" COVERAGE.  
If any of the required insurance policies is on a "claims made" basis, such as professional liability 
insurance or pollution liability insurance,  the contractor shall maintain either "tail" coverage 
or continuous "claims made" liability coverage, provided the effective date of the continuous 
"claims made" coverage is on or before the effective date of the Subagreement, for a minimum 
of twenty-four (24) months following the later of : (i) the contractor's completion and Recipient's 
acceptance of all Services required under the Subagreement or, (ii) the expiration of all warranty 
periods provided under the Subagreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing twenty-four (24) month 
requirement, if the contractor elects to maintain "tail" coverage and if the maximum time period 
"tail" coverage reasonably available in the marketplace is less than the twenty-four (24) month 
period described above, then the contractor may request and State may grant approval of  the 
maximum "tail " coverage period reasonably available in the marketplace.  If State approval is 
granted, the contractor shall maintain "tail" coverage for the maximum time period that "tail" 
coverage is reasonably available in the marketplace. 

NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE. 
The contractor or its insurer must provide thirty (30) days' written notice to Recipient before 
cancellation of, material change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal of 
the required insurance coverage(s). Recipient shall immediately notify State of any change 
in insurance coverage.

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE. 
Recipient shall obtain from the contractor a certificate(s) of insurance for all required insurance 
before the contractor performs under the Subcontract. The certificate(s) or an attached 
endorsement must specify: i) all entities and individuals who are endorsed on the policy as 
Additional Insured and ii) for insurance on a "claims made" basis, the extended reporting period 
applicable to "tail" or continuous "claims made" coverage.

Recipient Insurance Requirements

1. GENERAL.

Recipient shall obtain at Recipient's expense the insurance specified in this exhibit prior to 
performing under this Agreement and shall maintain it in full force and at its own expense 
throughout the duration of this Agreement, as required by any extended reporting period or 
continuous claims made coverage requirements, and all warranty periods that apply. Recipient shall 
obtain the following insurance from insurance companies or entities that are authorized to transact 
the business of insurance and issue coverage in the State of Oregon and that are acceptable 
to Agency. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance and self-
insurance, with the exception of Professional Liability and Workers' Compensation. Recipient shall 
pay for all deductibles, self-insured retention and self-insurance, if any.

INSURANCE REQUIREMENT REVIEW.
Recipient agrees to periodic review of insurance requirements by State under this Agreement and 



Page 18 of  19

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588

 
to provide updated requirements as mutually agreed upon by Recipient and State.

2. TYPES AND AMOUNTS.

WORKERS COMPENSATION. 
All employers, including Recipient, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 
shall comply with ORS 656.017 and provide workers' compensation insurance coverage for those 
workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under ORS 656.126(2). Recipient 
shall require and ensure that each of its subcontractors complies with these requirements. If 
Recipient is a subject employer, as defined in ORS 656.023, Recipient shall also obtain employers' 
liability insurance coverage with limits not less than $500,000 each accident. If Recipient is 
an employer subject to any other state's workers' compensation law, Contactor shall provide 
workers' compensation insurance coverage for its employees as required by applicable workers' 
compensation laws including employers' liability insurance coverage with limits not less than 
$500,000 and shall require and ensure that each of its out-of-state subcontractors complies with 
these requirements. 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY. 
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be issued on an occurrence basis covering bodily 
injury, death, and property damage and shall include personal and advertising injury liability, 
products and completed operations and contractual liability coverage.  When work to be performed 
includes operations or activity within 50 feet of any railroad property, bridge, trestle, track, 
roadbed, tunnel, underpass or crossing, the Contractor shall provide the Contractual Liability 
- Railroads CG 24 17 endorsement, or equivalent, on the Commercial General Liability policy. 
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall not be less than the following amounts as determined 
by State:

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence. 

Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000.

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY. 
Automobile Liability Insurance covering business-related automobile use on all owned, non-owned 
or hired vehicles for bodily injury and property. Automobile Liability Insurance shall not be less 
than the following amount as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance (with 
separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability).

EXCESS/UMBRELLA LIABILITY.
A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance may be used to meet the required 
limits of insurance.

ADDITIONAL INSURED. 
The liability insurance coverages, except Professional Liability or Workers' Compensation/
Employer's Liability, if included, must include the "State of Oregon, the Oregon Transportation 
Commission and the Department of Transportation, and their respective officers, 
members, agents and employees"  as an endorsed Additional Insured but only with respect 
to the Recipient's activities to be performed under this Agreement. Coverage shall be primary and 
non-contributory with any other insurance and self-insurance.

Additional Insured Endorsements on the Commercial General Liability shall be written on ISO Form 
CG 20 10 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of ongoing operations and ISO 
Form CG 20 37 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of completed operations. 
Additional Insured Endorsements shall be submitted with the Certificate(s) of Insurance and must 
be acceptable to the Recipient.

WAIVER OF SUBROGATION.  



Page 19 of  19

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35588

 
Recipient shall waive rights of subrogation which Recipient or any insurer of Recipient may acquire 
against the department or State of Oregon by virtue of the payment of any loss. Recipient will obtain 
any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation, but this provision 
applies regardless of whether or not the State has received a waiver of subrogation endorsement 
from the Recipient or the Recipient's insurer(s).

CONTINUOUS CLAIMS MADE COVERAGE:
If any of the required liability insurance is on a claims made basis and does not include an extended 
reporting period of at least 24 months, then Recipient shall maintain continuous claims made 
liability coverage, provided the effective date of the continuous claims made coverage is on or 
before the effective date of this Agreement, for a minimum of 24 months following the later of:
i. Recipient's completion and State's acceptance of all project work required under the Agreement, 
or 
ii. State or Recipient termination of this Agreement, or
iii. The expiration of all warranty periods provided under this Agreement.

3. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE. 
Recipient or its insurer must provide 30 days' written notice to State before cancellation of, material 
change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal of the required insurance 
coverage(s).

4. CERTIFICATE(S) AND PROOF OF INSURANCE. 
Recipient shall provide to State Certificate(s) of Insurance for all required insurance before 
delivering any Goods and performing any Services required under this Agreement. The 
Certificate(s) shall list the State of Oregon, its officers, employees and agents as a Certificate 
holder and as an endorsed Additional Insured. The Certificate(s) shall also include all required 
endorsements or copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this 
Agreement. If excess/umbrella insurance is used to meet the minimum insurance requirement, 
the Certificate of Insurance must include a list of all policies that fall under the excess/umbrella 
insurance. As proof of insurance State has the right to request copies of insurance policies and 
endorsements relating to the insurance requirements in this Agreement.

5. STATE ACCEPTANCE.
All insurance providers are subject to State acceptance.  If requested by State, Recipient shall 
provide complete copies of insurance policies, endorsements, self-insurance documents and related 
insurance documents to State's representatives responsible for verification of the insurance 
coverages required under this Exhibit C.



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

 
Authorizing the General Manager  ) 
to Execute ODOT STIF IC  ) 
Grant Agreement No. 35609 )     RESOLUTION NO. 23-27 
  
 

WHEREAS, the Tillamook County Transportation District (“District”) has received 
a grant from the Oregon Department of Transportation (“ODOT”) under Section 5311(f) / 
STIF Intercommunity Discretionary fund to support projects that enhance the Statewide 
Transit Network Program, which grant is memorialized in ODOT Grant Agreement No. 
35609; and 

 
WHEREAS, ODOT allocated funding to the District for operating assistance and 

vehicle preventive maintenance for the Route 5 Coastliner service expansion; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District Board of Directors wishes to authorize the General 

Manager to execute ODOT Grant Agreement No. 35609 in the amount of $716,800 on 
behalf of the District to aid in the financing of operations and vehicle preventive 
maintenance. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County Transportation 

District Board of Directors: 
 
that the General Manager is hereby authorized to accept and execute ODOT Grant 

Agreement No. 35609 in the amount of $716,800 on behalf of the Tillamook County 
Transportation District, for operating assistance and vehicle preventive maintenance for 
the Route 5 Coastliner service expansion between July 1, 2023 and June 30, 2025.  
 
 
 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 19th day of July 2023. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
Mary Johnson, Board Chair Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

 



Misc. Contracts and Agreements
Agreement No. 35609

STATE

 

Page 1 of  20

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION DIVISION
OREGON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

 
This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the State of Oregon, acting by and 
through its Department of Transportation, Public Transportation Division, hereinafter referred to as 
"State," and Tillamook County Transportation District, hereinafter referred to as "Recipient," 
and collectively referred to as the "Parties."
 

 

AGREEMENT
1. Effective Date.  This Agreement shall become effective on the later of July 1, 2023 or the 

date when this Agreement is fully executed and approved as required by applicable law.  Unless 
otherwise terminated or extended, grant funds under this Agreement shall be available for 
project costs incurred on or before June 30, 2025 (the "Expiration Date").  No grant funds 
are available for any expenditures after the Expiration Date.  State's obligation to disburse 
grant funds under this Agreement shall end as provided in Section 10 of this Agreement.

2. Agreement Documents.  This Agreement consists of this document and the following 
documents, all of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference:

Exhibit A:  Project Description and Budget

Exhibit B:  Financial Information

Exhibit C:  Subagreement Insurance Requirements and Recipient Insurance 
Requirements

In the event of a conflict between two or more of the documents comprising this Agreement, 
the language in the document with the highest precedence shall control.  The precedence of 
each of the documents comprising this Agreement is as follows, listed from highest precedence 
to lowest precedence:  this Agreement without Exhibits; Exhibit A; Exhibit B; Exhibit C.

3. Project Cost; Grant Funds. State shall provide Recipient an amount not to exceed 
$716,800.00 (the "Grant Funds"). Recipient acknowledges and agrees that State may change 
the amount of funds available under this Agreement, based on availability of funds and other 
factors as determined by State, upon notification to Recipient in accordance with Section 11.g 
of this agreement. Recipient will be responsible for all Project costs not covered by the Grant 
Funds. 

4. Project.  The Grant Funds shall be used solely for the project described in Exhibit A (the 
"Project") and shall not be used for any other purpose. No Grant Funds will be disbursed for any 
changes to the Project unless such changes are approved by State by amendment pursuant 
to Section 11.d hereof.

5. Progress Reports. . Recipient shall submit quarterly progress reports to State no later than 
45 days after the close of each quarterly reporting period. Reporting periods are July through 
September, October through December, January through March, and April through June. 
Reports must be in a format acceptable to State and must be entered into the Oregon Public 
Transit Information System (OPTIS), which may be accessed at https://www.oregon.gov/
odot/RPTD/Pages/index.aspx. If Recipient is unable to access OPTIS, reports must be sent 
to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.state.or.us. Reports shall include a statement of revenues and 
expenditures for each quarter, including documentation of local match contributions and 
expenditures. State reserves the right to request such additional information as may be 
necessary to comply with federal or state reporting requirements.

6. Disbursement and Recovery of Grant Funds.
a. Disbursement Generally. State shall reimburse eligible costs incurred in carrying out 

the Project, up to the Grant Funds amount provided in Section 3. Reimbursements shall 
be made by State within 30 days of State's approval of a request for reimbursement from 
Recipient using a format that is acceptable to State. Requests for reimbursement must 
be entered into OPTIS or sent to ODOTPTDReporting@odot.state.or.us. Eligible costs are 
the reasonable and necessary costs incurred by Recipient, or under a subagreement 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609
 

Page 2 of  20

described in Section 9 of this Agreement, in performance of the Project and that are not 
excluded from reimbursement by State, either by this Agreement or by exclusion as a 
result of financial review or audit.

b. Conditions Precedent to Disbursement.  State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds 
to Recipient is subject to satisfaction, with respect to each disbursement, of each of the 
following conditions precedent:

i. State has received funding, appropriations, limitations, allotments or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow State, in the exercise of its reasonable 
administrative discretion, to make the disbursement.

ii. Recipient is in compliance with the terms of this Agreement.
iii. Recipient's representations and warranties set forth in Section 7 hereof are true 

and correct on the date of disbursement with the same effect as though made on 
the date of disbursement.

iv. Recipient has provided to State a request for reimbursement using a format that is 
acceptable to and approved by State.  Recipient must submit its final request for 
reimbursement following completion of the Project and no later than 60 days after 
the Expiration Date. Failure to submit the final request for reimbursement within 
60 days after the Expiration Date could result in non-payment.

v. Any audit findings relating to Recipient's use of funds under this Agreement or any 
other agreement with State have been resolved.

c. Recovery of Funds.
i. Recovery of Misexpended Funds or Nonexpended Funds. Any funds disbursed to 

Recipient under this Agreement that are either (i) disbursed but unexpended 
as of the Expiration Date ("Unexpended Funds") or (ii) expended in violation or 
contravention of one or more of the provisions of this Agreement ("Misexpended 
Funds") must be returned to State. Recipient shall return all Misexpended Funds 
to State no later than 15 days after State's written demand. Recipient shall return 
all Unexpended Funds to State within 15 days after the earlier of expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.

ii. Recovery of Funds upon Termination. If this Agreement is terminated under either 
Section 10(a)(i) or Section 10(a)(v) below, Recipient shall return to State all funds 
disbursed to Recipient within 15 days after State's written demand for the same.

7. Representations and Warranties of Recipient.  Recipient represents and warrants to State 
as follows:

a. Organization and Authority.  Recipient is duly organized and validly existing under the 
laws of the State of Oregon and is eligible to receive the funds. Recipient has full power, 
authority, and legal right to make this Agreement and to incur and perform its obligations 
hereunder, and the making and performance by Recipient of this Agreement(1) have 
been duly authorized by all necessary action of Recipient and (2) do not and will not 
violate any provision of any applicable law, rule, regulation, or order of any court, 
regulatory commission, board, or other administrative agency or any provision of 
Recipient's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, if applicable, (3) do not and will not 
result in the breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under any other 
agreement or instrument to which Recipient is a party or by which Recipient or any of 
its properties may be bound or affected. No authorization, consent, license, approval 
of, filing or registration with or notification to any governmental body or regulatory or 
supervisory authority is required for the execution, delivery or performance by Recipient 
of this Agreement.

b. Binding Obligation.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by 
Recipient and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Recipient, enforceable in 
accordance with its terms subject to the laws of bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar 
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally.

c. No Solicitation.  Recipient's officers, employees, and agents shall neither solicit nor 
accept gratuities, favors, or any item of monetary value from contractors, potential 
contractors, or parties to subagreements, except as permitted by applicable law. No 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609
 

Page 3 of  20

member or delegate to the Congress of the United States or State of Oregon employee 
shall be admitted to any share or part of this Agreement or any benefit arising therefrom.

d. No Debarment.  Neither Recipient nor its principals is presently debarred, suspended, or 
voluntarily excluded from any federally-assisted transaction, or proposed for debarment, 
declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from participating in this Agreement by any 
state or federal agency. Recipient agrees to notify State immediately if it is debarred, 
suspended or otherwise excluded by any state or federal agency or if circumstances 
change that may affect this status, including without limitation upon any relevant 
indictments or convictions of crimes. 

 

The warranties set in this section are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other warranties 
set forth in this Agreement or implied by law.

8. Records Maintenance and Access; Audit.
a. Records, Access to Records and Facilities.  Recipient shall make and retain proper 

and complete books of record and account and maintain all fiscal records related to 
this Agreement and the Project in accordance with all applicable generally accepted 
accounting principles, generally accepted governmental auditing standards and state 
minimum standards for audits of municipal corporations. Recipient shall require that 
each of its subrecipients and subcontractors complies with these requirements. State, 
the Secretary of State of the State of Oregon (Secretary), the United States Department 
of Transportation (USDOT), the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and their duly 
authorized representatives shall have access to the books, documents, papers and 
records of Recipient that are directly related to this Agreement, the funds provided 
hereunder, or the Project for the purpose of making audits and examinations. In addition, 
State, the Secretary, USDOT, FTA and their duly authorized representatives may make 
and retain excerpts, copies, and transcriptions of the foregoing books, documents, 
papers, and records. Recipient shall permit authorized representatives of State, the 
Secretary, USDOT and FTA to perform site reviews of the Project, and to inspect all 
vehicles, real property, facilities and equipment purchased by Recipient as part of the 
Project, and any transportation services rendered by Recipient.

b. Retention of Records.  Recipient shall retain and keep accessible all books, documents, 
papers, and records that are directly related to this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, records relating to capital assets funded by this Agreement, the funds or the 
Project for a minimum of six (6) years, or such longer period as may be required by 
other provisions of this Agreement or applicable law, following the Expiration Date. If 
there are unresolved audit questions at the end of the six-year period, Recipient shall 
retain the records until the questions are resolved.

c. Expenditure Records.  Recipient shall document the expenditure of all Grant Funds 
disbursed by State under this Agreement.  Recipient shall create and maintain all 
expenditure records in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in 
sufficient detail to permit State to verify how the funds were expended.

d. Audit Requirements.
i. Recipient shall, at Recipient's own expense, submit to State, Public Transportation 

Division, 555 13th Street NE, Suite 3, Salem, Oregon, 97301-4179 or to 
ODOTPTDreporting@odot.state.or.us, a copy of, or electronic link to, any annual 
audit covering the funds expended under this Agreement by Recipient or a 
party to any subagreement with Recipient, as well as the annual audit of any 
subrecipient(s), contractor(s), or subcontractor(s) of Recipient responsible for the 
financial management of funds received under this Agreement.

ii. Recipient shall save, protect and hold harmless State from the cost of any audits 
or special investigations performed by the Secretary with respect to the funds 
expended under this Agreement. Recipient acknowledges and agrees that any audit 
costs incurred by Recipient as a result of allegations of fraud, waste or abuse are 
ineligible for reimbursement under this or any other agreement between Recipient 
and State.



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609
 

Page 4 of  20

 This section 8 shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement.
9. Recipient Subagreements and Procurements

a. Subagreements.  Recipient may enter into agreements with sub-recipients, contractors 
or subcontractors (collectively, "subagreements") for performance of the Project.

i. All subagreements must be in writing executed by Recipient and must incorporate 
and pass through all of the applicable requirements of this Agreement to the other 
party or parties to the subagreement(s). Use of a subagreement does not relieve 
Recipient of its responsibilities under this Agreement.

ii. Recipient shall require all of its contractors performing work under this Agreement 
to name State as a third-party beneficiary of Recipient's subagreement with the 
contractor and to name State as an additional or "dual" obligee on contractors' 
payment and performance bonds.

iii. Recipient shall provide State with a copy of any signed subagreement, as well as 
any other purchasing or contracting documentation, upon request by State. This 
Paragraph 9.a.iii. shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement.

iv. Recipient must report to State any material breach of a term or condition of a 
subagreement within ten (10) days of Recipient discovering the breach.

b. Subagreement indemnity; insurance.
i. Recipient's subagreement(s) shall require the other party to such 

subagreements(s) that is not a unit of local government as defined in ORS 
190.003, if any, to indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless State and 
its officers, employees and agents from and against any and all claims, 
actions, liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses, including attorneys' 
fees, arising from a tort, as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260, 
caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of  the other party to Recipient's subagreement 
or any of such party's officers, agents, employees or subcontractors 
("Claims"). It is the specific intention of the Parties that the State shall, 
in all instances, except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or 
willful acts or omissions of the State, be indemnified by the other party to 
Recipient's subagreement(s) from and against any and all Claims.

ii. Any such indemnification shall also provide that neither Recipient's subrecipient(s), 
contractor(s) nor subcontractor(s) (collectively "Subrecipients"), nor any attorney 
engaged by Recipient's Subrecipient(s), shall defend any claim in the name of 
the State or any agency of the State of Oregon, nor purport to act as legal 
representative of the State of Oregon or any of its agencies, without the prior 
written consent of the Oregon Attorney General. The State may, at any time at its 
election, assume its own defense and settlement in the event that it determines 
that Recipient's Subrecipient is prohibited from defending State or that Recipient's 
Subrecipient is not adequately defending State's interests, or that an important 
governmental principle is at issue or that it is in the best interests of State to 
do so. State reserves all rights to pursue claims it may have against Recipient's 
Subrecipient if State elects to assume its own defense.

iii. Recipient shall require the other party, or parties, to each of its subagreements 
that are not units of local government as defined in ORS 190.003 to obtain and 
maintain insurance of the types and in the amounts provided in Exhibit C to 
this Agreement. Recipient may specify insurance requirements of its contractor(s) 
above the minimum insurance requirements specified in Exhibit C. Recipient shall 
verify its contractor(s) meet the insurance requirements in Exhibit C.

c. Procurements. Recipient shall make purchases of any equipment, materials, or services 
for the Project under procedures that comply with Oregon law, as applicable, including 
all applicable provisions of the Oregon Public Contracting Code (Oregon Revised Statutes 
(ORS) Chapters 279 A, B and C) and rules, ensuring that:

i. Recipient shall make purchases of any equipment, materials, or services for 
the Project under procedures that comply with Oregon law, as applicable, 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609
 

Page 5 of  20

including all applicable provisions of the Oregon Public Contracting Code and rules. 
Procurements of rolling stock, facilities and personal services for any amount, and 
all procurements for an amount greater than $100,000 must be approved by State 
prior to solicitation.

ii. Recipient shall complete all purchases, including installation, and all construction 
of capital assets funded under this Agreement prior to the Expiration Date of this 
Agreement. If local circumstances prevent purchase, installation, or construction 
by the specified date, Recipient will notify State in writing of the circumstances 
regarding the delay. Such notification must be received at least forty-five (45) days 
prior to the expiration of the Agreement. Agreement amendment for time will be 
considered in extenuating circumstances.

d. Conflicts of Interest. Recipient's public officials shall comply with Oregon's government 
ethics laws, ORS 244.010 et seq., as those laws may be subsequently amended.

10. Termination
a. Termination by State.  State may terminate this Agreement effective upon delivery of 

written notice of termination to Recipient, or at such later date as may be established 
by State in such written notice, if:

i. Recipient fails to perform the Project within the time specified herein or any 
extension thereof or commencement, continuation or timely completion of the 
Project by Recipient is, for any reason, rendered improbable, impossible, or illegal; 
or

ii. State fails to receive funding, appropriations, limitations or other expenditure 
authority sufficient to allow State, in the exercise of its reasonable administrative 
discretion, to continue to make payments for performance of this Agreement; or

iii. Federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines are modified or interpreted in 
such a way that the Project is no longer allowable or no longer eligible for funding 
under this Agreement; or

iv. The Project would not produce results commensurate with the further expenditure 
of funds; or

v. Recipient takes any action pertaining to this Agreement without the approval of 
State and which under the provisions of this Agreement would have required the 
approval of State.

b. Termination by Recipient.  Recipient may terminate this Agreement effective upon 
delivery of written notice of termination to State, or at such later date as may be 
established by Recipient in such written notice, if:

i. Upon notification to State of its desire to withdraw from eligibility to receive the 
funds and providing to State a reason acceptable to State for the withdrawal; or

ii. If federal or state laws, rules, regulations or guidelines are modified or interpreted 
in such a way that the Project is no longer allowable or no longer eligible for funding 
under this Agreement.

c. Termination by Either Party.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement upon at 
least ten days' notice to the other Party and failure of the other Party to cure within the 
period provided in the notice, if the other Party fails to comply with any of the terms 
of this Agreement.

11. General Provisions
a. Contribution. If any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding 

alleging a tort as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260 ("Third Party Claim") against 
State or Recipient with respect to which the other Party may have liability, the notified 
Party must promptly notify the other Party in writing of the Third Party Claim and deliver 
to the other Party a copy of the claim, process, and all legal pleadings with respect to 
the Third Party Claim. Each Party is entitled to participate in the defense of a Third Party 
Claim, and to defend a Third Party Claim with counsel of its own choosing. Receipt by a 
Party of the notice and copies required in this paragraph and meaningful opportunity for 
the Party to participate in the investigation, defense and settlement of the Third Party 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609
 

Page 6 of  20

Claim with counsel of its own choosing are conditions precedent to that Party's liability 
with respect to the Third Party Claim.

With respect to a Third Party Claim for which State is jointly liable with Recipient (or would 
be if joined in the Third Party Claim ), State shall contribute to the amount of expenses 
(including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred and paid or payable by Recipient in such proportion as is appropriate 
to reflect the relative fault of the State on the one hand and of the Recipient on the other 
hand in connection with the events which resulted in such expenses, judgments, fines or 
settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative 
fault of State on the one hand and of Recipient on the other hand shall be determined 
by reference to, among other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to 
information and opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such 
expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts. State's contribution amount in any 
instance is capped to the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law, 
including the Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if State had sole liability 
in the proceeding.

With respect to a Third Party Claim for which Recipient is jointly liable with State (or 
would be if joined in the Third Party Claim), Recipient shall contribute to the amount of 
expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement 
actually and reasonably incurred and paid or payable by State in such proportion as is 
appropriate to reflect the relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and of State on the 
other hand in connection with the events which resulted in such expenses, judgments, 
fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. 
The relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and of State on the other hand shall be 
determined by reference to, among other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, 
access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in 
such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts. Recipient's contribution amount 
in any instance is capped to the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon 
law, including the Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if it had sole liability 
in the proceeding.

b. Dispute Resolution.  The Parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute 
arising out of this Agreement. In addition, the Parties may agree to utilize a jointly 
selected mediator or arbitrator (for non-binding arbitration) to resolve the dispute short 
of litigation.

c. Insurance. Recipient shall meet the insurance requirements within Exhibit C.
d. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended or extended only by a written 

instrument signed by both Parties and approved as required by applicable law.
e. Duplicate Payment.  Recipient is not entitled to compensation or any other form of 

duplicate, overlapping or multiple payments for the same work performed under this 
Agreement from any agency of the State of Oregon or the United States of America or 
any other party, organization or individual.

f. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  State and Recipient are the only Parties to this 
Agreement and are the only Parties entitled to enforce its terms.  Nothing in this 
Agreement gives, is intended to give, or shall be construed to give or provide any benefit 
or right, whether directly or indirectly, to a third person unless such a third person is 
individually identified by name herein and expressly described as an intended beneficiary 
of the terms of this Agreement.

Recipient acknowledges and agrees that the Federal Government, absent express written 
consent by the Federal Government, is not a party to this Agreement and shall not be 
subject to any obligations or liabilities to the Recipient, contractor or any other party 
(whether or not a party to the Agreement) pertaining to any matter resulting from this 
Agreement.

g. Notices. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any communications 
between the Parties hereto or notices to be given hereunder shall be given in writing by 
personal delivery, facsimile, email, or mailing the same, postage prepaid, to Recipient 
Contact or State Contact at the address or number set forth     on the signature page 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609
 

Page 7 of  20

of this Agreement, or to such other addresses or numbers as either Party may hereafter 
indicate pursuant to this Section 11.i. Any communication or notice personally delivered 
shall be deemed to be given when actually delivered. Any communication or notice 
delivered by facsimile shall be deemed to be given when receipt of the transmission 
is generated by the transmitting machine, and to be effective against State, such 
facsimile transmission must be confirmed by telephone notice to State Contact. Any 
communication by email shall be deemed to be given when the recipient of the email 
acknowledges receipt of the email. Any communication or notice mailed shall be deemed 
to be given when received.  

h. Governing Law, Consent to Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon without regard to principles 
of conflicts of law. Any claim, action, suit or proceeding (collectively, "Claim") between 
State (or any other agency or department of the State of Oregon) and Recipient that 
arises from or relates to this Agreement shall be brought and conducted solely and 
exclusively within the Circuit Court of Marion County in the State of Oregon. In no event 
shall this section be construed as a waiver by the State of Oregon of any form of defense 
or immunity, whether sovereign immunity, governmental immunity, immunity based on 
the eleventh amendment to the Constitution of the United States or otherwise, from any 
Claim or from the jurisdiction of any court. EACH PARTY HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE 
EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURT, WAIVES ANY OBJECTION TO VENUE, AND 
WAIVES ANY CLAIM THAT SUCH FORUM IS AN INCONVENIENT FORUM.

i. Compliance with Law. Recipient shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, 
regulations, executive orders and ordinances applicable to the Agreement or to the 
implementation of the Project, as applicable to Recipient. Without limiting the generality 
of the foregoing, Recipient expressly agrees to comply with (i) Title VI of Civil Rights 
Act of 1964; (ii) Title V and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; (iii) the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and ORS 659A.142; (iv) all regulations and 
administrative rules established pursuant to the foregoing laws; and (v) all other 
applicable requirements of federal and state civil rights and rehabilitation statutes, rules 
and regulations.

j. Independent Contractor.  Recipient shall perform the Project as an independent 
contractor and not as an agent or employee of State. Recipient has no right or authority 
to incur or create any obligation for or legally bind State in any way. State cannot and 
will not control the means or manner by which Recipient performs the Project, except 
as specifically set forth in this Agreement. Recipient is responsible for determining the 
appropriate means and manner of performing the Project. Recipient acknowledges and 
agrees that Recipient is not an "officer", "employee", or "agent" of State, as those terms 
are used in ORS 30.265, and shall not make representations to third parties to the 
contrary.  

k. Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining 
terms and provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the Parties 
shall be construed and enforced as if this Agreement did not contain the particular term 
or provision held to be invalid.

l. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts (by 
facsimile or otherwise), each of which is an original and all of which together are deemed 
one agreement binding on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not signatories 
to the same counterpart.

m. Integration and Waiver.  This Agreement, including all Exhibits, constitutes the 
entire agreement between the Parties on the subject matter hereof.  There are no 
understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified herein 
regarding this Agreement.  The delay or failure of either Party to enforce any provision of 
this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver by that Party of that or any other provision.  
Recipient, by the signature below of its authorized representative, hereby acknowledges 
that it has read this Agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms 
and conditions.

n. Survival. The following provisions survive termination of this Agreement: Sections 6.c., 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609
 

Page 8 of  20

8 and 11.
 

 



Page 9 of  20

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609
 
The Parties, by execution of this Agreement, hereby acknowledge that each Party has read this 
Agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms and conditions.
 

The Oregon Transportation Commission on October 20, 2010, approved Delegation Order Number 
OTC-01, which authorizes the Director of the Oregon Department of Transportation to administer 
programs related to public transit.

On March 1, 2012, the Director approved Delegation Order Number DIR-04, which delegates the 
authority to approve this Agreement to the Rail and Public Transit Division Administrator.

 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW



Page 10 of  20

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609
 
Tillamook County Transportation District,
by and through its
 
 
By  
(Legally designated representative)

 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
By  
 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY

(If required in local process)

 
By  
Recipient's Legal Counsel
 
Date  
 
 
Recipient Contact:
Brian Vitulli
3600 Third Street, Suite A
Tillamook, OR 97141-0188
1 (503) 842-3115
bvitulli@tillamookbus.com
 
State Contact:
Arla Miller
555 13th Street NE
Salem, OR 97301-4179
1 (503) 949-5415
Arla.MILLER@odot.state.or.us

 State of Oregon, by and through its
Department of Transportation
 
By  
Karyn Criswell
Public Transportation Division Administrator
 
Date  
 
 
APPROVAL RECOMMENDED

 
By Arla Miller

 
Date 06/16/2023

 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY
(For funding over $150,000)

 
By  
Assistant Attorney General
 
Name Sam Zeigler by email
(printed)

 
Date 02/01/2023

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed Agreement Return Address: ODOTPTDReporting@odot.state.or.us



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609

 

Page 11 of  20

EXHIBIT A

Project Description and Budget
 
Project Description/Statement of Work  
 
Project Title: STIF IC Tillamook County Transportation District 35609
Route 5 Coastliner Expansion Service Operations and Preventive Maintenance

P-23-3785-01 Item #1: Operating Assistance
 

Total Grant Amount Local Match Match Type(s)
$806,000.00 $644,800.00 $161,200.00 Local

P-23-3785-02 Item #1: Preventive Maintenance
 

Total Grant Amount Local Match Match Type(s)
$90,000.00 $72,000.00 $18,000.00 Local

Sub Total $896,000.00 $716,800.00 $179,200.00
 

Grand Total $896,000.00 $716,800.00 $179,200.00
 

 
1. BACKGROUND

In the 2017 legislative session, the Oregon Legislature passed House Bill 2017, the Statewide
Transportation Improvement Fund (STIF). The bill designated nine percent of the total funds
appropriated to be awarded to eligible Public Transportation Service Providers (PTSPs) based
on a competitive grant process. This nine percent is divided into a five-percent share for STIF
Discretionary projects and a four-percent share for STIF Intercommunity Discretionary projects.

The STIF Discretionary fund is a flexible fund source that aims to expand or improve public
transportation services by supporting projects that create new service routes, adopt enhanced
forms of technology and data collection, maintain transit fleets in a state of good repair, and
advance the equity and sustainability of transportation in the state. 

The STIF Intercommunity Discretionary fund is housed with FTA Section 5311(f) funds under the
"Statewide Transit Network Program." The purpose of the Statewide Transit Network Program
is to support projects that enhance Oregon's statewide fixed route transit network by investing
in key transit hubs, closing gaps between two or more communities, improving access to and
from transit for pedestrians and bicyclists, improving collaboration and coordination between
agencies that results in functional benefits, or other activities that improve the function of the
overall transit network and serve the interests of more than one transit agency.

This Agreement describes the duties and responsibilities of State and Recipient in the
management and proper use of STIF funds or 5311(f) funds and the associated reporting
requirements.

2. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

Operations
This Agreement provides funding for Recipient to provide intercity service between Tillamook and
Portland on the Coastliner Route 5. Stops at Tillamook Park and Ride, Tillamook Transit Center
2nd and Laurel, Forest Center Highway 6 at 22 mile post, North Plains, 185th Avenue connects
with TriMet, Sunset Transit Center connects with TriMet, Portland Union station connecting with
Amtrak, Greyhound, and TriMet

Intercity service is provided 3 roundtrip runs per day, 7 days a week, starting at 4:55 through at
6:05 pm

Preventive Maintenance

This Agreement provides funding for preventive maintenance on vehicles and non- vehicle assets
in the provision of public transportation. Proper maintenance ensures assets are kept in good
condition per manufacturer's recommendations and that safety standards are met.



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609

 

Page 12 of  20

Preventive maintenance reimbursed in this Agreement is for assets used in the provision of
public transportation services for the general public, seniors, or individuals with disabilities. This
Agreement does not provide for maintenance on staff vehicles, vehicles used for business of
Recipient, or maintenance vehicles.
The Intercity project enhances the statewide transit network by providing 3 round trips per
day to the Portland metro area, with connections to Amtrak, Greyhound, Ride Connection and
TriMet. 

3. PROJECT DELIVERABLES, TASKS and SCHEDULE

Recipient, in the performance of this Project, shall document steps taken to improve accessibility
of public transportation for vulnerable populations and/or historically marginalized communities.
Vulnerable populations include low-income individuals or households, veterans, Tribal
communities or groups, individuals of age 65 and older, individuals with disabilities, and
individuals with limited English proficiency. Information on this topic shall be provided to State
through reporting. 

Operations

The service, schedule, days, hours, and service type will be designed to meet the needs of
the target population as determined by Recipient and program type, in consultation with the
operator of service, the affected community members, and stakeholders identified by Recipient.

To the extent possible, Recipient (and contractors, as applicable), will coordinate the delivery
of transportation services with other public and private transportation providers to enhance
regional services and to avoid duplication of services. Coordinated service may be made
available to a variety of potential users. 

Recipient may amend the service design at any time in accordance with local demand, funding
issues, or other situations that require service to be changed. Recipient will inform State if there
is a change in the service funded by this Agreement.

Recipient will market the services in culturally appropriate ways. Marketing and promotional
activities should be focused on incentivizing ridership through inclusive customer engagement
techniques. Activities may include marketing strategies, marketing campaigns, and creating
marketing materials. Recipient may use key performance indicators in marketing the service.

Recipient is encouraged to set realistic goals and establish measurable outcomes for this project.
Goals and outcomes can be related to rides provided to seniors and persons with disabilities,
number of rides transitioned from demand responsive to fixed route transit through mobility
management efforts, hours of public transportation services to low-income households at the
200 percent poverty threshold, and overall ridership. They can also be related to Environmental
Justice goals. Progress meeting established goals and outcomes should be shared in
Recipient's agency periodic report.

Recipient shall engage in a good faith effort to generate program income to help defray program
costs. If program income is generated from federally-funded projects, that income must be
reported on the agency periodic report.

Preventive Maintenance

Recipient will complete all preventive maintenance tasks prior to the expiration date of this
Agreement.

Preventive maintenance expenses include activities, supplies, materials, labor, services, and
associated costs required to preserve or extend the functionality and serviceability of the asset
in a cost effective manner. Preventive maintenance includes, but is not limited to the following:
oil changes; engine tune-ups; tire purchases; tire maintenance; annual vehicle inspections;
scheduled or routine maintenance; and associated parts, supplies, and labor.



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609

 

Page 13 of  20

Preventive maintenance under this Agreement does not include repairs resulting from motor
vehicle accidents covered by insurance, repairs on vehicles or components under warranty, or
repairs which are paid for in other agreements or contracts.

Recipient must provide to State, upon request, a plan for scheduled preventive maintenance.
Reimbursement requests must match the activities or purchases described in Recipient's plan.

A major component replacement (such as an engine or transmission), that keeps an asset within
useful life (overhaul), or extends the useful life (rebuild) may be eligible for reimbursement
under this Agreement, pending verification of conformance to Recipient's adopted maintenance
plan and requirements detailed in Federal Transit Administration Circular 5010.1E (Award
Management Requirements), Chapter IV.

Overhaul is performed as a planned or concentrated preventive maintenance activity and is
intended to enable the vehicle to perform to the end of the original useful life. A vehicle must
meet at least 40 percent of its useful life to be considered for an overhaul. Recipient must obtain
pre-approval from State prior to any vehicle overhaul. Vehicle rebuilds must extend the useful
life of the vehicle by at least four years.

If local circumstances change, for example, vehicle type or asset disposition,
Recipient's maintenance plan must be updated to reflect that change.

Recipient, if operating fixed route or deviated fixed route transit service, shall create and
maintain current GTFS data describing the service. (This can be supported by State's GTFS
contractor.) GTFS data should be updated in advance of system changes to allow trip planners to
stay current. 

Recipient, if operating demand response service, is encouraged to create and maintain GTFS-flex
data for their service. (This can be supported by State's GTFS-flex contractor.) 

Competitive purchases of systems that can count passengers e.g., Automated Passenger
Counters (APC), Automated Fare Collection (AFC) systems) should include an explicit preference
for systems that support the GTFS-ride data standard. Purchases of real-time (RT) information
systems for fixed route service must include support for GTFS-RT data and provide GTFS-RT
data access to interested third parties.  

STIF Intercommunity- supported service providers are strongly encouraged to serve key transit
hubs and stops operated or used by for-profit/national transit providers where practical.

Modifications to Project Objectives or Service:

Recipients receiving operating or mobility management funding for fixed route service shall
provide adequate public notice of impending service changes. State shall be included in the first
entities notified of any impending service changes. Cause for such notification shall include, but
not be limited to, changes to route stops, route frequency, or the primary vehicle used for the
service as well as Recipient's inability to maintain interline agreements made with other public
transportation service providers.  Service changes determined to significantly impede Recipient's
ability to achieve objectives and deliverables identified in this Agreement may result in loss or
reduction of project funding. 

Modifications to projects funded with STIF Intercommunity Discretionary funds must continue
to provide significant benefit to the statewide transit network or risk loss or reduction of project
funding.

4. PROJECT ACCOUNTING and MATCHING FUNDING

Recipient retains authority over costs and allocations of STIF funds within the guidelines
established by Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 184.751 through 184.758 and Oregon
Administrative Rules (OAR) Chapter 732. 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609

 

Page 14 of  20

Operations

Generally accepted accounting principles and Recipient's own accounting system determine
those costs that are to be accounted for as gross operating expenses. The contractor may
use capital equipment funded from USDOT- or State-source grants when performing services
rendered through a contract funded by this Agreement. Depreciation of capital equipment funded
from USDOT- or State-source grants is not an eligible expense.

Program income that may be used as Recipient's matching funds for this Agreement includes
service contract revenue, advertisement and other earned income, other local funds, cash
donations, and other verifiable in-kind contributions integral to the project budget. In-kind
contributions claimed as matching funds must be properly documented and reported to State.
Recipient may not use passenger fares as matching funds.

Recipient will subtract revenue from fares, tickets and passes, either pre-paid or post-paid,
from the gross operating expense of the service. Administrative expenses are reimbursable as
operating expenses.

Preventive Maintenance

Sources that may be used as Recipient's matching funds for this Agreement include Statewide
Transportation Improvement Formula Fund, Special Transportation Fund, local funds, service
contract revenue, advertisement income, other earned income, cash donations, and other
verifiable in-kind contributions that are integral to the project budget. Recipient may not use
passenger fares as matching funds. State's obligation to reimburse Project costs is contingent
upon Recipient first paying or otherwise contributing its minimum match amount set forth in this
Exhibit A.

5. REPORTING AND INVOICING REQUIREMENTS

Recipient shall confirm the eligibility of any Sub-Recipient prior to distributing STIF moneys and
entering into an agreement with the Sub-Recipient. Recipient shall ensure that Sub-Recipients
maintain eligibility throughout the project period. Recipient shall provide State with copies of
agreement(s) made with Sub-Recipients within 30 days of execution of those agreements.

Per OAR 732-044-0040(1)(a), Recipient shall report on Project progress, outcomes achieved,
and expenditures of discretionary STIF funds by itself and its Sub-Recipients. Failure to use
STIF funds towards achievement of identified project deliverables may result in the cessation of
funding to Recipient for the remainder of the Agreement period. 

Operations

Recipient will request reimbursement for covered expenses incurred    during each period as
prescribed by State. Copies of invoices must be submitted for all vendor charges. In-house
charges must be documented showing time specifically associated with the project. In addition,
Recipient must regularly provide a summary of the work performed pursuant to this Agreement
in its agency periodic report. Photographs of public transportation activities, and related
operations, are encouraged to memorialize the achievement of project deliverables.

Preventive Maintenance

Recipient will request reimbursement for covered expenses incurred during each period
as prescribed by State and described in Recipient's preventive maintenance plan for this
Agreement. Recipient must maintain and provide supporting documents detailing the total
expenses for allowable maintenance activities incurred during the period. Recipient may list costs
on a form provided by State, or provide vendor invoices.

Project Progress Reporting

Recipient shall report Project progress quarterly through the Oregon Public Transit Information
System (OPTIS) Agency Periodic Report (APR) and shall include a brief status update for each



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609

 

Page 15 of  20

deliverable. Project reporting should align with project deliverables identified in this Agreement.
State will use reporting information to assess Recipient's progress by comparing task-based
expenditures to progress on deliverables.  

Outcomes Achieved Reporting

Recipient shall report outcomes achieved through project performance. Continued funding under
this Agreement is contingent upon reporting of outcomes achieved.

On a quarterly basis, in addition to continuing required elements in the APR, Recipient shall
complete a short narrative describing outcomes achieved in performance of the Project. For
the final quarter of the biennium, Recipient shall report on quarterly outcomes achieved as well
as summarize outcomes achieved over the duration of the Agreement.  Recipient shall provide
additional information on outcomes achieved when and where directed to do so by State in
reporting guidance. 

Outcomes achieved are defined in State's program guidance and that guidance provides State's
expectations surrounding all reporting requirements. For detailed instructions on quarterly,
annual, and biennial reporting, refer to State's STIF Discretionary/STN Reporting Guidance
document.  

On a quarterly basis, Recipient shall report in the APR the overall service costs, revenue miles,
revenue hours, and ridership for the service associated with this Agreement. Recipient shall also
report the fare revenue, contract revenue, and any other revenue collected as a result of the
service.

Expenditures

Expenditures of STIF Discretionary funds will be tracked in OPTIS. Recipient must submit
reimbursement requests in OPTIS to receive reimbursement for Project expenditures.  

Reporting on Mitigation of Tax Impacts to Low-income Populations

Per OAR 732-040-0025(1), Qualified Entities receiving STIF funds shall submit a report on any
actions taken by any PTSP located within the area of the Qualified Entity to mitigate the impact
of the STIF tax on passengers who reside in low-income communities. This report must be
submitted no later than 60 days after the end of each fiscal year in which the Qualified Entity
receives STIF funds.  

Recipient shall submit this report as instructed separately from this Agreement and shall attach
all responses submitted to Recipient by PTSPs receiving STIF discretionary funds that detail
actions taken by those PTSPs.

 



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609

Page 16 of  20

EXHIBIT B

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
 

This Agreement is financed by the funding source indicated below:
 

State Program State Funding Agency  Total State Funding
STF:  ORS 391.800
through ORS 391.830
and OAR Chapter 732,
Divisions 5, 10, and 30

And/Or 

STIF:  ORS 184.758
through ORS 184.766
and OAR Chapter 732,
Divisions 040, 042, and
044.

Oregon Department of
Transportation
355 Capitol St. N.E.
Salem, OR  97301-3871

$716,800.00

 
Administered By  
Public Transportation Division
555 13th Street NE
Salem, OR  97301-4179

 



Page 17 of  20

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609

 
EXHIBIT C

 

Insurance Requirements
 

Subagreement Insurance Requirements

GENERAL.

Recipient shall require in its first tier subagreements with entities that are not units of local 
government as defined in ORS 190.003, if any, to: i) obtain insurance specified under TYPES 
AND AMOUNTS and meeting the requirements under ADDITIONAL INSURED, "TAIL" COVERAGE, 
NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE, and CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE before performance 
under the subagreement commences, and ii) maintain the insurance in full force throughout 
the duration of the subagreement.  The insurance must be provided by insurance companies or 
entities that are authorized to transact the business of insurance and issue coverage in the State 
of Oregon and that are acceptable to State.  Recipient shall not authorize work to begin under 
subagreements until the insurance is in full force. Thereafter, Recipient shall monitor continued 
compliance with the insurance requirements on an annual or more frequent basis. Recipient shall 
incorporate appropriate provisions in the subagreement permitting it to enforce compliance with 
the insurance requirements and shall take all reasonable steps to enforce such compliance.  In 
no event shall Recipient permit work under a subagreement when Recipient is aware that the 
contractor is not in compliance with the insurance requirements. As used in this section, "first tier" 
means a subagreement in which the Recipient is a Party.

TYPES AND AMOUNTS.

WORKERS COMPENSATION. 
All employers, including Contractor, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 
shall comply with ORS 656.017 and shall provide Workers' Compensation Insurance coverage 
for those workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under ORS 656.126(2).  
The coverage shall include Employer's Liability Insurance with limits not less than $500,000 each 
accident. Contractor shall require compliance with these requirements in each of its 
subcontractor contracts.

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY. 
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be issued on an occurrence basis covering bodily 
injury and property damage and shall include personal and advertising injury liability, products 
and completed operations, and contractual liability coverage. When work to be performed includes 
operations or activity within 50 feet of any railroad property, bridge, trestle, track, roadbed, tunnel, 
underpass or crossing, the Contractor shall provide the Contractual Liability - Railroads CG 24 
17 endorsement, or equivalent, on the Commercial General Liability policy. Amounts below are a 
minimum requirement as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence. Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000.

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY. 
Automobile Liability Insurance covering Contractor's business-related automobile use covering all 
owned, non-owned, or hired vehicles for bodily injury and property. Amount below is a minimum 
requirement as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance (with 
separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability).

EXCESS/UMBRELLA LIABILITY.
A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance may be used to meet the required 



Page 18 of  20

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609

 
limits of insurance.

ADDITIONAL INSURED.  
The liability insurance coverages, except Professional Liability or Workers' Compensation/
Employer's Liability, if included, must include the "State of Oregon, the Oregon Transportation 
Commission and the Department of Transportation, and their respective officers, 
members, agents and employees" as an endorsed Additional Insured but only with respect 
to the contractor's activities to be performed under the Subagreement. Coverage shall be primary 
and non-contributory with any other insurance and self-insurance.

Additional Insured Endorsements on the Commercial General Liability shall be written on ISO Form 
CG 20 10 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of ongoing operations and ISO 
Form CG 20 37 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of completed operations. 
Additional Insured Endorsements shall be submitted with the Certificate(s) of Insurance and must 
be acceptable to the Recipient.

"TAIL" COVERAGE.  
If any of the required insurance policies is on a "claims made" basis, such as professional liability 
insurance or pollution liability insurance,  the contractor shall maintain either "tail" coverage 
or continuous "claims made" liability coverage, provided the effective date of the continuous 
"claims made" coverage is on or before the effective date of the Subagreement, for a minimum 
of twenty-four (24) months following the later of : (i) the contractor's completion and Recipient's 
acceptance of all Services required under the Subagreement or, (ii) the expiration of all warranty 
periods provided under the Subagreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing twenty-four (24) month 
requirement, if the contractor elects to maintain "tail" coverage and if the maximum time period 
"tail" coverage reasonably available in the marketplace is less than the twenty-four (24) month 
period described above, then the contractor may request and State may grant approval of  the 
maximum "tail " coverage period reasonably available in the marketplace.  If State approval is 
granted, the contractor shall maintain "tail" coverage for the maximum time period that "tail" 
coverage is reasonably available in the marketplace. 

NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE. 
The contractor or its insurer must provide thirty (30) days' written notice to Recipient before 
cancellation of, material change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal of 
the required insurance coverage(s). Recipient shall immediately notify State of any change 
in insurance coverage.

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE. 
Recipient shall obtain from the contractor a certificate(s) of insurance for all required insurance 
before the contractor performs under the Subcontract. The certificate(s) or an attached 
endorsement must specify: i) all entities and individuals who are endorsed on the policy as 
Additional Insured and ii) for insurance on a "claims made" basis, the extended reporting period 
applicable to "tail" or continuous "claims made" coverage.

Recipient Insurance Requirements

1. GENERAL.

Recipient shall obtain at Recipient's expense the insurance specified in this exhibit prior to 
performing under this Agreement and shall maintain it in full force and at its own expense 
throughout the duration of this Agreement, as required by any extended reporting period or 
continuous claims made coverage requirements, and all warranty periods that apply. Recipient shall 
obtain the following insurance from insurance companies or entities that are authorized to transact 
the business of insurance and issue coverage in the State of Oregon and that are acceptable 
to Agency. Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance and self-
insurance, with the exception of Professional Liability and Workers' Compensation. Recipient shall 
pay for all deductibles, self-insured retention and self-insurance, if any.

INSURANCE REQUIREMENT REVIEW.
Recipient agrees to periodic review of insurance requirements by State under this Agreement and 



Page 19 of  20

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609

 
to provide updated requirements as mutually agreed upon by Recipient and State.

2. TYPES AND AMOUNTS.

WORKERS COMPENSATION. 
All employers, including Recipient, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, 
shall comply with ORS 656.017 and provide workers' compensation insurance coverage for those 
workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under ORS 656.126(2). Recipient 
shall require and ensure that each of its subcontractors complies with these requirements. If 
Recipient is a subject employer, as defined in ORS 656.023, Recipient shall also obtain employers' 
liability insurance coverage with limits not less than $500,000 each accident. If Recipient is 
an employer subject to any other state's workers' compensation law, Contactor shall provide 
workers' compensation insurance coverage for its employees as required by applicable workers' 
compensation laws including employers' liability insurance coverage with limits not less than 
$500,000 and shall require and ensure that each of its out-of-state subcontractors complies with 
these requirements. 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY. 
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall be issued on an occurrence basis covering bodily 
injury, death, and property damage and shall include personal and advertising injury liability, 
products and completed operations and contractual liability coverage.  When work to be performed 
includes operations or activity within 50 feet of any railroad property, bridge, trestle, track, 
roadbed, tunnel, underpass or crossing, the Contractor shall provide the Contractual Liability 
- Railroads CG 24 17 endorsement, or equivalent, on the Commercial General Liability policy. 
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall not be less than the following amounts as determined 
by State:

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence. 

Annual aggregate limit shall not be less than $2,000,000.

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY. 
Automobile Liability Insurance covering business-related automobile use on all owned, non-owned 
or hired vehicles for bodily injury and property. Automobile Liability Insurance shall not be less 
than the following amount as determined by State:

Coverage shall be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability Insurance (with 
separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability).

EXCESS/UMBRELLA LIABILITY.
A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella Liability Insurance may be used to meet the required 
limits of insurance.

ADDITIONAL INSURED. 
The liability insurance coverages, except Professional Liability or Workers' Compensation/
Employer's Liability, if included, must include the "State of Oregon, the Oregon Transportation 
Commission and the Department of Transportation, and their respective officers, 
members, agents and employees"  as an endorsed Additional Insured but only with respect 
to the Recipient's activities to be performed under this Agreement. Coverage shall be primary and 
non-contributory with any other insurance and self-insurance.

Additional Insured Endorsements on the Commercial General Liability shall be written on ISO Form 
CG 20 10 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of ongoing operations and ISO 
Form CG 20 37 07 04, or equivalent, with respect to liability arising out of completed operations. 
Additional Insured Endorsements shall be submitted with the Certificate(s) of Insurance and must 
be acceptable to the Recipient.

WAIVER OF SUBROGATION.  



Page 20 of  20

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35609

 
Recipient shall waive rights of subrogation which Recipient or any insurer of Recipient may acquire 
against the department or State of Oregon by virtue of the payment of any loss. Recipient will obtain 
any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation, but this provision 
applies regardless of whether or not the State has received a waiver of subrogation endorsement 
from the Recipient or the Recipient's insurer(s).

CONTINUOUS CLAIMS MADE COVERAGE:
If any of the required liability insurance is on a claims made basis and does not include an extended 
reporting period of at least 24 months, then Recipient shall maintain continuous claims made 
liability coverage, provided the effective date of the continuous claims made coverage is on or 
before the effective date of this Agreement, for a minimum of 24 months following the later of:
i. Recipient's completion and State's acceptance of all project work required under the Agreement, 
or 
ii. State or Recipient termination of this Agreement, or
iii. The expiration of all warranty periods provided under this Agreement.

3. NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR CHANGE. 
Recipient or its insurer must provide 30 days' written notice to State before cancellation of, material 
change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal of the required insurance 
coverage(s).

4. CERTIFICATE(S) AND PROOF OF INSURANCE. 
Recipient shall provide to State Certificate(s) of Insurance for all required insurance before 
delivering any Goods and performing any Services required under this Agreement. The 
Certificate(s) shall list the State of Oregon, its officers, employees and agents as a Certificate 
holder and as an endorsed Additional Insured. The Certificate(s) shall also include all required 
endorsements or copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this 
Agreement. If excess/umbrella insurance is used to meet the minimum insurance requirement, 
the Certificate of Insurance must include a list of all policies that fall under the excess/umbrella 
insurance. As proof of insurance State has the right to request copies of insurance policies and 
endorsements relating to the insurance requirements in this Agreement.

5. STATE ACCEPTANCE.
All insurance providers are subject to State acceptance.  If requested by State, Recipient shall 
provide complete copies of insurance policies, endorsements, self-insurance documents and related 
insurance documents to State's representatives responsible for verification of the insurance 
coverages required under this Exhibit C.



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

 
Authorizing the General Manager  ) 
to Execute Amendment Number 1 ) 
to ODOT Section 5304 Grant ) 
Agreement No. 35137 )     RESOLUTION NO. 23-28 
  
 

WHEREAS, the District applied to, and was awarded by, the Oregon Department 
of Transportation (“ODOT”) for a Section 5304 grant to update the District’s Coordinated 
Public Transit-Human Services Transportation Plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, on July 1, 2021, the District entered into ODOT Grant Agreement No. 

35137 (the “Grant Agreement”), memorializing a grant in the amount of $36,000; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District and ODOT mutually desire to modify Exhibit A to extend 

the Grant Agreement period to allow for completion of the above-mentioned Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Directors wishes to authorize the General 

Manager to execute Amendment Number 1 to extend the Grant Agreement period to 
allow for completion of the above-mentioned Plan. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County Transportation 

District Board of Directors: 
 
that the General Manager is hereby authorized to accept and execute Amendment 

Number 1 to ODOT Grant Agreement No. 35137 on behalf of the Tillamook County 
Transportation District, which deletes existing Exhibit A to the Grant Agreement in its 
entirety and replaces it with the revised Exhibit A, attached to Amendment Number 1 and 
incorporated herein.  
 
 
 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 19th day of July 2023. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
Mary Johnson, Board Chair Brian Vitulli, General Manager 

 



Misc. Contracts and Agreements
Agreement No. 35137

Version 1
Planning   5305

 

Page 1 of  5

AMENDMENT NUMBER 1
ODOT GRANT AGREEMENT NO. 35137

Tillamook County Transportation District

The State of Oregon, acting by and through its Department of Transportation, hereinafter referred 
to as State, and Tillamook County Transportation District, hereinafter referred to as Recipient, 
entered into an Agreement on July 1, 2021. Said Agreement is to secure financial assistance to 
complete the activities described in Exhibit A.

It has now been determined by State and Recipient that the Agreement referenced above, although 
remaining in full force and effect, shall be amended to extend the agreement period.

Page 1, Agreement, Paragraph 1, which reads:

1. Effective Date. This Agreement shall become effective on the later of July 1, 2021 or the 
date when this Agreement is fully executed and approved as required by applicable law. Unless 
otherwise terminated or extended, Grant Funds under this Agreement shall be available for Project 
Costs incurred on or before June 30, 2023 (Expiration Date). No Grant Funds are available for 
any expenditures after the Expiration Date. State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds under this 
Agreement shall end as provided in Section 6.b.iv of this Agreement.

Shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

1. Effective Date. This Agreement shall become effective on the later of July 1, 2021 or the 
date when this Agreement is fully executed and approved as required by applicable law. Unless 
otherwise terminated or extended, Grant Funds under this Agreement shall be available for Project 
Costs incurred on or before June 30, 2024 (Expiration Date). No Grant Funds are available for 
any expenditures after the Expiration Date. State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds under this 
Agreement shall end as provided in Section 6.b.iv of this Agreement.

Exhibit A shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the attached Revised Exhibit A. 
All references to "Exhibit A" shall hereinafter be referred to as "Revised Exhibit A."



Page 2 of  5

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35137
 
This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts (facsimile or otherwise) all of which
when taken together shall constitute one agreement binding on all Parties, notwithstanding
that all Parties are not signatories to the same counterpart. Each copy of this Amendment so
executed shall constitute an original.

THE PARTIES, by execution of this Agreement, hereby acknowledge that their signing
representatives have read this Agreement, understand it, and agree to be bound by its terms
and conditions.

 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW



Page 3 of  5

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35137
 
Tillamook County Transportation District,
by and through its
 
 
By  
(Legally designated representative)

 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
By  
 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY

(If required in local process)

 
By  
Recipient's Legal Counsel
 
Date  
 
 
Recipient Contact:
Brian  Vitulli
3600 Third Street, Suite A
Tillamook, OR 97141-0188
1 (503) 842-3115
bvitulli@tillamookbus.com
 
State Contact:
Arla Miller
555 13th Street NE
Salem, OR 97301-4179
1 (503) 949-5415
Arla.MILLER@odot.state.or.us

 State of Oregon, by and through its
Department of Transportation
 
By  
Karyn Criswell
Public Transportation Division Administrator
 
Date  
 
 
APPROVAL RECOMMENDED

 
By Arla Miller

 
Date 06/29/2023

 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY
(For funding over $150,000)

 
 

N/A
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed Agreement Return Address: ODOTPTDReporting@odot.state.or.us



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35137

 

Page 4 of  5

Revised Exhibit A

Project Description and Budget
 
Project Description/Statement of Work  
 
Project Title: 5304 Tillamook County Transportation District 35137
TCTD Coordinated Human Services Public Transportation Plan "Coordinated Plan" Update.

P-21-3452-01 Item #1: Short Range Transportation Planning
 

Total Grant Amount Local Match Match Type(s)
$45,000.00 $36,000.00 $9,000.00 State

Sub Total $45,000.00 $36,000.00 $9,000.00
 

Grand Total $45,000.00 $36,000.00 $9,000.00
 

 
1. BACKGROUND  

Recipient shall update the Coordinated Public Transit Human Services Transportation Plan in
preparation of the 2023-2025 biennium.

2. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

This Agreement provides funding to update the Recipients Human Services Coordinated Plan's
demographic data, establish a revised existing conditions analysis, identify unmet needs and
establish new goals and priorities for the Recipient. 

Upon execution of the grant agreement, Recipient shall conduct a procurement process to select
a planning consultant. 

Next, an existing conditions will be conducted. A series of planning workshops and public
outreach meetings will be designed to collaborate with the Recipients Transportation Advisory
Committee (TAC) to identify, review, and provide input into the existing conditions analysis,
and assist in the development of unmet needs, the creation of priorities and revision or
establishment of new goals. 

The last phase will include working with the TAC to expand the public outreach effort to
additional community stakeholders. 

The Plan's milestones are listed below:

Approximate timeline:
Consultant Selection - 12/2021
Existing Needs Analysis - 6/2022
Priorities and Goals - 06/2023
Plan Adoption - 6/2024

PROJECT DELIVERABLES, TASKS and SCHEDULE
Recipient, in coordination with its regional transit coordinator, will conduct a procurement for a
planning consultant, or use internal staff where sufficient planning capacity exists, to produce a
plan that includes the following elements:

A) TASK ONE: Needs Assessment
a. Identify any transportation needs not being met
b. Identify populations and locations needing transportation
c. Assess travel patterns, including origins and destinations
d. Assess first and last mile connections
e. Assess the type of transportation needed

B) TASK TWO: Financial Cost Estimates for Implementing Options and Outcomes
a. Determine the funds needed to improve the system



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35137

 

Page 5 of  5

b. Determine the cost of new services that can be implemented immediately
c. Determine the service that will require long-term financial planning
d. Produce templates for marketing materials
e. Identify possible fund source(s)

C) TASK THREE: Priorities and Goals
Consultant shall provide the cumulative priorities and goals obtained from workshops, outreach
meetings, and Transit Advisory Committee input.

D) TASK FOUR: Public Participation Documentation 
Public participation can be in the form of surveying, public meetings, and meetings with
stakeholder groups. Participation may include the following: transportation providers, riders,
social and governmental stakeholders, and representatives of Title VI populations (i.e., low-
income and minority groups, veterans, seniors and individuals with disabilities.)

Documentation of public participation could include survey results, meeting minutes, media
content, reports, advertisements and other visual and written forms of community engagement.

e)  Recipient will submit final adopted Human Services Coordinated Plan to the State to review,
and retain in files.

3. PROJECT ACCOUNTING and MATCH FUNDING

Sources of funding that may be used as Recipient's matching funds for this Agreement include
local funds; Statewide Transportation Improvement Formula Funds; Special Transportation
Formula Funds; service contract revenue, advertisement and other earned income; cash
donations; and verifiable in-kind contributions integral to the project budget. In-kind
contributions claimed as matching funding must be reported to State. Recipient may not use
passenger fares as matching funding.

4. REPORTING and INVOICING REQUIREMENTS

Recipient will request reimbursement for covered expenses incurred during each period as
prescribed by State. Copies of invoices must be submitted for all products, services, and vendor
charges. In-house charges must be documented showing time specifically associated with the
project. In addition, Recipient must provide a summary of the work performed to date pursuant
to this Agreement in each agency periodic report.  Photographs of the planning process are
encouraged to memorialize the achievement of project deliverables, if applicable.

Recipient will submit a draft or final plan, as appropriate, before final payment will be made by
State. 



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

 
Authorizing the General Manager  ) 
to Execute Amendment Number 1 ) 
to ODOT RVHT Grant ) 
Agreement No. 35344 )     RESOLUTION NO. 23-29 
  
 

WHEREAS, the District applied to, and was awarded by, the Oregon Department 
of Transportation (“ODOT”), through a partnership with the Oregon Department of 
Veterans’ Affairs for a Rural Veterans Healthcare Transportation (RVHT) grant to provide 
health care access services to rural veterans; and 

 
WHEREAS, on May 26, 2022, the District entered into ODOT Grant Agreement 

No. 35344 (the “Grant Agreement”), memorializing a grant in the amount of $53,000; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District and ODOT mutually desire to modify Exhibit A to extend 

the Grant Agreement period to September 30, 2023 to allow for continued reimbursement 
to prevent a gap in service while ODOT and ODVA finalize program funding; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Directors wishes to authorize the General 

Manager to execute Amendment Number 1 to extend the Grant Agreement period to 
September 30, 2023 to allow for continued reimbursement to prevent a gap in service 
while ODOT and ODVA finalize program funding. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County Transportation 

District Board of Directors: 
 
that the General Manager is hereby authorized to accept and execute Amendment 

Number 1 to ODOT Grant Agreement No. 35344 on behalf of the Tillamook County 
Transportation District, which deletes existing Exhibit A to the Grant Agreement in its 
entirety and replaces it with the revised Exhibit A, attached to Amendment Number 1 and 
incorporated herein.  
 
 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 19th day of July 2023. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
Mary Johnson, Board Chair Brian Vitulli, General Manager 



Misc. Contracts and Agreements
Agreement No. 35344

Version 1
STATE

 

Page 1 of  5

AMENDMENT NUMBER 1
ODOT GRANT AGREEMENT NO. 35344

Tillamook County Transportation District

The State of Oregon, acting by and through its Department of Transportation, hereinafter referred 
to as State, and Tillamook County Transportation District, hereinafter referred to as Recipient, 
entered into an Agreement on May 26, 2022. Said Agreement is to secure financial assistance to 
complete the activities described in Exhibit A.

It has now been determined by State and Recipient that the Agreement referenced above, although 
remaining in full force and effect, shall be amended to extend the Agreement period and change 
recipient contact.

Page 1, Agreement, Paragraph 1, which reads:

1. Effective Date. This Agreement shall become effective on the later of February 1, 2022 or 
the date when this Agreement is fully executed and approved as required by applicable law. Unless 
otherwise terminated or extended, Grant Funds under this Agreement shall be available for Project 
Costs incurred on or before June 30, 2023 (Expiration Date). No Grant Funds are available for 
any expenditures after the Expiration Date. State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds under this 
Agreement shall end as provided in Section 6.b.iv of this Agreement.

Shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

1. Effective Date. This Agreement shall become effective on the later of February 1, 2022 or 
the date when this Agreement is fully executed and approved as required by applicable law. Unless 
otherwise terminated or extended, Grant Funds under this Agreement shall be available for Project 
Costs incurred on or before September 30, 2023 (Expiration Date). No Grant Funds are available 
for any expenditures after the Expiration Date. State's obligation to disburse Grant Funds under this 
Agreement shall end as provided in Section 6.b.iv of this Agreement.

Exhibit A shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the attached Revised Exhibit A. 
All references to "Exhibit A" shall hereinafter be referred to as "Revised Exhibit A."



Page 2 of  5

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35344
 
This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts (facsimile or otherwise) all of which
when taken together shall constitute one agreement binding on all Parties, notwithstanding
that all Parties are not signatories to the same counterpart. Each copy of this Amendment so
executed shall constitute an original.

THE PARTIES, by execution of this Agreement, hereby acknowledge that their signing
representatives have read this Agreement, understand it, and agree to be bound by its terms
and conditions.

 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW



Page 3 of  5

Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35344
 
Tillamook County Transportation District,
by and through its
 
 
By  
(Legally designated representative)

 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
By  
 
Name  
(printed)

 
Date  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY

(If required in local process)

 
By  
Recipient's Legal Counsel
 
Date  
 
 
Recipient Contact:
Brian  Vitulli
3600 Third Street, Suite A
Tillamook, OR 97141-0188
1 (503) 842-3115
bvitulli@tillamookbus.com
 
State Contact:
Arla Miller
555 13th Street NE
Salem, OR 97301-4179
1 (503) 949-5415
Arla.MILLER@odot.state.or.us

 State of Oregon, by and through its
Department of Transportation
 
By  
Karyn Criswell
Public Transportation Division Administrator
 
Date  
 
 
APPROVAL RECOMMENDED

 
By Jennifer Boardman

 
Date 06/30/2023

 
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY
(For funding over $150,000)

 
 

N/A
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed Agreement Return Address: ODOTPTDReporting@odot.state.or.us



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35344

 

Page 4 of  5

Revised Exhibit A

Project Description and Budget
 
Project Description/Statement of Work  
 
Project Title: RVHT Tillamook County Transportation District 35344
Tillamook County Veterans Services Transportation Project: Continue to connect with DAV van to
expand the reach of medical rides for veterans.

P-21-1810-01 Item #1: Operating Assistance
 

Total Grant Amount Local Match Match Type(s)
$53,000.00 $53,000.00 $0.00

Sub Total $53,000.00 $53,000.00 $0.00
 

Grand Total $53,000.00 $53,000.00 $0.00
 

 
1. BACKGROUND

The Rural Veterans Healthcare Transportation (RVHT) Grant Program was created through a
partnership with Oregon Department of Veterans' Affairs (ODVA). RVHT provides free rides to
veterans residing in rural areas who are seeking access to healthcare and health related goods
and services. This Agreement describes the duties and responsibilities of State and Recipient in
the management and proper use of RVHT and its associated reporting requirements.

2. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

Provides up to $53,000 of Operations funding for Recipient to provide health care access services
to rural veterans in and around the communities of Tillamook County, Oregon and for out-of-
market care in communities such as Camp Rilea, Lincoln City, Salem, and Portland, Oregon; as
well as Vancouver, Washington.

3. PROJECT DELIVERABLES and TASKS

The contracted service will be provided by a contractor or pass-through subrecipient selected by
Recipient, and will be designed to primarily benefit veterans residing in or near eligible census
tracts. Eligible census tracts are those classified by Primary Rural-Urban Commuter Area codes 4
through 10 (United States Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service 2010).

The service, schedule, days, hours and service type will be designed to meet the needs of
veterans as determined by Recipient in consultation with the operator of service, the affected
community members and stakeholders identified by Recipient. 

Services will be provided in accordance with the locally adopted Coordinated Public Transit
Human Services Transportation Plan (Coordinated Plan). Recipient and contractor or pass-
through subrecipient will coordinate the delivery of transportation services with other public
and private transportation providers to enhance regional services and to avoid duplication
of services. Veterans will be served in coordinated, shared ride services where and when
practicable, and in a dedicated ride mode where and when it is not. 

Recipient may amend the service design at any time in accordance with local demand, funding
issues, or other situations that require service to be changed. Recipient will inform State if there
is a change in the service funded by this Agreement. 

Recipient will market the services to veterans, provide veteran-centered outreach, and offer
training to assist veterans in learning to use public transit.

This project estimates the following deliverables between the date of execution and September
30, 2023:



Tillamook County Transportation District/State of Oregon
Agreement No. 35344

 

Page 5 of  5

Veteran Rides: 810
Veteran Service Miles: 36,779
Veteran Service Hours: 1,215
Outreach Events: 5
Veterans Informed about RVHT Services: 325
Veterans Ride Coached: 175
Veterans Travel Trained: 15

4. PROJECT ACCOUNTING and MATCHING FUNDING

Generally accepted accounting principles and Recipient's own accounting system determine
those costs that are to be accounted for as gross operating expenses. Recipient may not count
the same costs twice if they have multiple agreements for which these costs may be eligible.
The contractor may use capital equipment funded from USDOT- or State-source grants when
performing services rendered through a contract funded by this Agreement. Depreciation of
capital equipment funded from USDOT- or State-source grants is not an eligible expense. 

This award does not require local match. RVHT reimburses the fully-allocated cost of services
under this Agreement; Recipient may not charge a fare, co-pay, or other form of fee-for-service.

5. REPORTING and INVOICING REQUIREMENTS

Recipient shall submit a Cognito Forms based report provided by State on a quarterly basis as a
condition of reimbursement.


	JulyBoardPacket
	July Board Packet Cover.pdf
	2023.07.14 NWOTA Meeting Agenda
	2023.06.09 NWOTA Minutes
	GM Report_July 2023
	6.15.2023 Minutes DRAFT
	2. Pledge of Allegiance
	3. Roll Call:
	Present
	TCTD Board of Directors
	TCTD Staff
	Brian Vitulli, General Manager
	Mike Reed, Operations Superintendent
	Guest
	Jim Heffernan, Citizen
	Marni Johnston, Citizen (Zoom)
	Jonathan Bean, Citizen
	Kathy Kleczek, Citizen (Zoom)
	Arla Miller, ODOT (Zoom)
	4. Announcements and Changes to Agenda: GM Vitulli announced the following changes to the agenda:
	Item #30 will not be addressed tonight.
	5. Public & Guest Comments: None
	6. Executive Session:  None
	7. Budget Hearing
	STATE OF THE DISTRICT REPORT
	8. Financial Report: FS Bond gave the following up-to-date financial report:
	92% through the fiscal year with payroll under budget. Expenses are lower.
	Have new biennium grants coming with grant extensions. Capital grants are delayed. A recap of the status of grants will be presented in August.
	NW Rides is 92% throughout the year. Under budget on expenses.
	NWOTA has only received 5% of the resources that are budgeted because of the delay on Bus Stop Project reimbursements.
	Will be opening a NWOTA bank account. Waiting for new Board Members because updated signature cards will need to be done.
	LGIP STIF Reserve Account is open and ready for funding. This will be reported separately in the future.
	9. Service Measure Performance Report: OS Reed gave the following updates:
	Shared the Service Measure Performance Report via slideshow which are located in the June Board Packet.
	Proud of the numbers that we are seeing. Our drivers are stretched thin trying to maintain the service plan that we have currently. We are trying to find ways to continue to fulfill this.
	10. Northwest Oregon Transit Alliance: GM Vitulli gave the following update:
	John Dreeszen was elected Vice President.
	SETD (Sunset Empire Transit District) is still providing the same reduced level of service and likely will not be adding back service for some time. Had to lay off 30 employees and close the Seaside Transit Office.
	Dir. Holm added that Governor Kotek visited SETD.
	Moving forward with three stops (PC, Hebo, and Waldport) with the Bus Stop Access Project.
	Still a lot of interest in Hydrogen Feasibility Study, trying to find the funds for this.
	11. NW Rides Brokerage: BM Hooter gave the following updates:
	Ridership is growing. We are going to add a new provider to help with wheelchair and ambulatory services.
	Dir. Holm asked if this is in Clatsop County. BM Hooter replied that this is Eugene, we want to expand in Clatsop County but aren’t there yet.
	12. General Manager Report: GM Vitulli provided the following updates:
	a. Administration/Coordination:
	Natalie has been updating the Board Manual. Hope to have SDAO training opportunities identified in the future.
	Working on CBA negotiations, find a date for both parties to meet.
	Meetings with CTGR (Confederate Tribes of Grand Ronde) on updating MOU for 60X and Siletz Tribe 70X services.
	b. Planning Development:
	PC Shuttle is going well.
	c. Grant Funding:
	Seeking funding for Transit Development Plan.
	Grant application for COVID recovery funding.
	d. Facility/Property Development:
	Extended and amended agreement with TFCC (Tillamook Family Counseling Center) including an 18-month extension. Got exclusive use of the Conference Center to provide extra room for NW Rides Brokerage Staff.
	Dir. Holm asked if we needed that full space. GM Vitulli replied we can use it with the NW Rides staff we have now but can use the space as new positions are added.
	Dir. Hanenkrat asked how many workstations we need. FS Bond replied that CCO has set aside money to expand the program with three positions, there is a great need. They are willing to pay rent.
	GM Vitulli added that this lease stays the same but with amended items in the new document.
	Dir. Holm asked if we are using the Conference Room as temporary space. GM Vitulli replied yes.
	GM Vitulli said we found a low bidder on the Transit Center Renovation project. Contract will come to you next month for authorization.
	13. Miscellaneous: None.
	CONSENT CALENDAR
	Motion by Dir. Holm to approve Consent Calendar. Motion Seconded by Dir. Edwards.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	ACTION ITEMS
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	20. #23-12 Authorizing the General Manager to Extend an MOU with the Confederate Tribes of Grand Ronde Indians for Intercity Bus Service (60X)
	GM Vitulli explained that these 60X/70X MOU’s are separate but related. Met with Public Works Director of Grand Ronde Tribe. Looking to extend 60X MOU. Partnership is working great with great service. Page 74, Item 8, the total should be changed to $1...
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	21. #23-13 Authorizing the General Manager to Extend an MOU with the Confederate Tribes of Siletz Indians for Intercity Bus Service (60X)
	GM Vitulli said this is with the Confederated Tribes of Siletz Indians. Bottom of resolution it lists one amount but should be changed to $334,934. Page 86, amount should be $1,305,474. Page 93, value should be $334,934. Made those changes and will ma...
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	22. #23-14 Authorizing the General Manager to Extend a PTA with the Confederate Tribes of Grand Ronde Indians for Intercity Bus Service (70X)
	GM Vitulli discussed that 70X is more service than 60X with lower ridership. It’s hard to staff and more costly. Morning routes have been suspended due to staffing, but we have come up with some solutions. After public outreach we are looking to disco...
	Dir. Holm asked if this is subsidized by tribes. GM Vitulli replied yes.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	23. #23-15 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5311 Grant Agreement No. 35435
	GM Vitulli explained how this grant is a part of 2023-25 biennium. For continued operations and preventative maintenance.
	Dir. Holm asked if that makes any changes to the current service. GM Vitulli replied no, this is a continuation.
	Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-15 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5311 Grant Agreement No. 35435. Motion seconded by Dir. Edwards.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	24. #23-16 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5311 Grant Agreement No. 35436
	GM Vitulli explained how this grant is for Capital Purchase of two transit vehicles.
	Dir. Holm asked if we already have these in the works. GM Vitulli responded that we have some grant agreements that are being extended to allow for the delays in purchasing vehicles. The new grant deadline is 2027.
	FS Bond said the grant agreement number is incorrect on the third “whereas” on the resolution.
	Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-16 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5311 Grant Agreement No. 35436 with changes to third whereas on resolution. Motion seconded by Dir. Edwards.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	25. #23-17 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5310 Grant Agreement No. 35488
	GM Vitulli explained that this grant is going towards Preventative Maintenance in 5310. This is allocated for the public but also for seniors and individuals with disabilities.
	Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-17 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute ODOT Section 5310 Grant Agreement No. 35488. Motion seconded by Dir. Hanenkrat.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	26. #23-18 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute Amendment Number 5 to ODOT Section 5311(f) Grant Agreement No. 35116
	GM Vitulli said that this grant goes towards an extension because of Capital Purchase of a vehicle. Has been difficult to get in a timely matter.
	Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-18 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute Amendment Number 5 to ODOT Section 5311(f) Grant Agreement No. 35116. Motion seconded by Dir. Edwards.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	27. #23-19 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute Amendment Number 5 to ODOT Section 5311(f) Grant Agreement No. 35117
	GM Vitulli expressed that this amendment is to extend the grant deadline to accommodate delays.
	Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-19 Authorizing the General Manager to Execute Amendment Number 5 to ODOT Section 5311(f) Grant Agreement No. 35117.Motion seconded by Dir. Edwards.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	28. #23-20 In the Matter of Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Personal Services Agreement with Chrissy’s Cleaning Service
	GM Vitulli discussed that we are asking for a new PSA with Chrissy’s Cleaning Service.
	Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-20 In the Matter of Authorizing the General Manager to Execute a Personal Services Agreement with Chrissy’s Cleaning Service with revision of July 1, 2023-July 1, 2024. Motion seconded by Dir. Edwards.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	29. #23-21 Authorizing the General Manager to Submit an ODOT COVID Recovery Discretionary Grant Application
	GM Vitulli said that this will be the last grant opportunity for COVID relief funds. Hope to attract more staff with this. It’s a valuable grant application to go for.
	Motion by Dir. Holm to Approve #23-21 Authorizing the General Manager to Submit an ODOT COVID Recovery Discretionary Grant Application. Motion seconded by Dir. Edwards.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Adler(ABSENT),
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	DISCUSSION ITEMS
	30. Staff Comments/Concerns:
	General Manager Vitulli: Thank you Dir. Holm and Dir. Edwards for your valuable service to the District, you will be hard to replace.
	Operations Superintendent Reed: Recognized FS Bond for work on the budget. This week is a big milestone for the District. Proud to be a part of this organization. Thanked Dir. Holm and Dir. Edwards.
	Financial Supervisor Bond: This week marks one year of losing Doug. Never have seen the board work so cohesively together. So glad to have met Dir. Holm and Dir. Edwards, you will be missed. Thanked BC Johnson for her support. Thanked Arla Miller.
	Brokerage Manager Hooter: Want to thank Board and Staff for NW Rides support. We are growing but wouldn’t be that way without every person here.
	Administrative Assistant Zuercher: Thanked Dir. Holm and Dir. Edwards for their service on the Board.
	31. Board of Directors Comments/Concerns:
	Dir. Holm: It’s amazing what transformations have happened here at TCTD. We didn’t have 7-day a week service when I started. We are important in this community, North to South. It isn’t noticed by a lot of people; they don’t know how important this Di...
	Dir. Adler: (ABSENT)
	Dir. Hanenkrat: Thanked all the staff. Dir. Holm and Dir. Edwards, it’s been a pleasure working with you.
	Board Chair Johnson: Glad Brian asked Dir. Edwards and Dir. Holm to come to the next board meeting. Fight the good fight with the staff, the board appreciates you. Thank you, Dir. Holm and Dir. Edwards, as well as Dir. Hanenkrat for dedicated service....
	Dir. Edwards: Thanked everyone. The people here are like a family. Everybody wants to do a good job and that’s impressive to me. AA Zuercher you are a jewel, you have taken the reigns during a hard time. FS Bond you keep everyone’s head above water. B...
	Adjournment: Board Chair Johnson adjourned the meeting at 7:31 pm.
	These minutes approved this 19th day of July 2023.
	ATTEST:

	UPADTEDAnnual Board Mtg Calendar 2023
	DRAFT 10 Director Powers Duties Responsibilities and Membership
	23-22 Authorizing Signing Authority
	23-24 MarieMillsTransitCenter
	23-25 MarieMillsTCTDOffice

	Amended Board Packet July
	June Financials.pdf
	vj1_Redacted
	vj2_Redacted
	vj3_Redacted
	vj4_Redacted
	Visadetailedreport
	Fredmeyer July
	JulyOperationsReport
	DRAFT 10 Director Powers Duties Responsibilities and Membership_rev BV 07182023
	23-26 ODOT STIF IC Agreement No 35588
	23-26 ODOT STIF IC Agreement No 35588
	23-27 ODOT STIF IC Agreement No 35609
	23-27 ODOT STIF IC Agreement No 35609
	PDF23-28 ODOT 5304 Agreement No 35137 Amendment
	23-28 ODOT 5304 Agreement No 35137 Amendment
	23-29 ODOT 5304 Agreement No 35344 Amendment
	23-29 ODOT RVHT Agreement No 35344 Amendment




